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Part I. Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited).
Forward Air Corporation
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

September 30,
2016

December 31,
2015

Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 11,312 $ 33,312
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $1,924 in 2016 and $2,405 in 2015 115,327 109,165
Other current assets 17,321 30,980
Total current assets 143,960 173,457

Property and equipment 369,582 343,147
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 172,348 155,859
Total property and equipment, net 197,234 187,288
Goodwill and other acquired intangibles:
Goodwill 184,675 205,609
Other acquired intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $58,943 in 2016 and
$51,212 in 2015 109,041 127,800

Total net goodwill and other acquired intangibles 293,716 333,409
Other assets 6,603 5,778
Total assets $ 641,513 $ 699,932

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 18,415 $ 23,334
Accrued expenses 30,843 29,823
Current portion of debt and capital lease obligations 41,866 55,887
Total current liabilities 91,124 109,044

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 814 28,617
Other long-term liabilities 14,726 12,340
Deferred income taxes 39,007 39,876

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares - 50,000,000, Issued and outstanding
shares - 30,283,518 in 2016 and 30,543,864 in 2015 303 305

Additional paid-in capital 174,450 160,855
Retained earnings 321,089 348,895
Total shareholders’ equity 495,842 510,055
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 641,513 $ 699,932

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Forward Air Corporation
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Operating revenue $249,552 $ 247,093 $717,737 $ 702,705

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 105,039 104,434 300,783 301,253
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 60,161 59,025 175,857 174,815
Operating leases 16,215 17,072 44,684 51,105
Depreciation and amortization 9,399 9,399 28,409 27,601
Insurance and claims 7,170 5,161 19,213 16,531
Fuel expense 3,416 3,826 9,375 12,034
Other operating expenses 23,452 23,575 65,218 66,608
Impairment of goodwill, intangibles and other assets — — 42,442 —
Total operating expenses 224,852 222,492 685,981 649,947
Income from operations 24,700 24,601 31,756 52,758

Other income (expense):
Interest expense (216 ) (554 ) (1,230 ) (1,489 )
Other, net (4 ) 10 (149 ) (127 )
Total other income (expense) (220 ) (544 ) (1,379 ) (1,616 )
Income before income taxes 24,480 24,057 30,377 51,142
Income tax expense 12,549 8,370 15,413 18,795
Net income and comprehensive income $11,931 $ 15,687 $14,964 $ 32,347

Net income per share:
Basic $0.39 $ 0.51 $0.49 $ 1.04
Diluted $0.39 $ 0.50 $0.49 $ 1.03

Dividends per share: $0.12 $ 0.12 $0.36 $ 0.36

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Forward Air Corporation
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Operating activities:
Net income $14,964 $ 32,347
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 28,409 27,601
Impairment of goodwill, intangible and other assets 42,442 —
Share-based compensation 6,204 5,562
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment 201 (3 )
Provision for loss on receivables 268 463
Provision for revenue adjustments 1,570 3,391
Deferred income tax 661 5,546
Excess tax benefit for stock options exercised (137 ) (2,365 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (8,000 ) 866
Other current assets 13,083 (1,531 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (5,057 ) (14,562 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 94,608 57,315

Investing activities:
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 1,795 1,200
Purchases of property and equipment (28,725 ) (18,541 )
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (11,800 ) (61,878 )
Other (673 ) (598 )
Net cash used in investing activities (39,403 ) (79,817 )

Financing activities:
Proceeds from term loan — 125,000
Payments of debt and capital lease obligations (41,825 ) (87,367 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 7,041 11,351
Payments of cash dividends (10,987 ) (11,133 )
Repurchase of common stock (repurchase program) (29,986 ) (9,996 )
Common stock issued under employee stock purchase plan 215 228
Excess tax benefit for stock options exercised 137 2,365
Cash settlement of share-based awards for minimum tax withholdings (1,800 ) (1,931 )
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (77,205 ) 28,517
Net (decrease) increase in cash (22,000 ) 6,015
Cash at beginning of period 33,312 41,429
Cash at end of period $11,312 $ 47,444

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Forward Air Corporation
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2016

1.    Basis of Presentation

Forward Air Corporation's (“the Company”, “We”, “Our”) services can be classified into four principal reportable segments:
Expedited LTL, Expedited Truckload Services (“TLX”), Intermodal and Pool Distribution (See note 11).

In our Expedited LTL segment, we provide time-definite transportation services to the North American deferred air
freight market. Our Expedited LTL service operates a comprehensive national network for the time-definite surface
transportation of expedited ground freight. The Expedited LTL service offers customers local pick-up and delivery
and scheduled surface transportation of cargo as a cost effective, reliable alternative to air transportation. Expedited
LTL’s other services include shipment consolidation and deconsolidation, warehousing, customs brokerage, and other
handling. The Expedited LTL segment primarily provides its transportation services through a network of terminals
located at or near airports in the United States and Canada.

In our TLX segment, we provide expedited truckload brokerage, dedicated fleet services and maximum security and
temperature-controlled logistics services. We are able to expedite this service by utilizing a dedicated fleet of team
owner operators, some team company drivers as well as third party transportation providers. The TLX segment
provides full truckload service in the United States and Canada.

In our Intermodal segment, we provide container and intermodal drayage services primarily within the Midwest
region of the United States. Drayage is essentially the first and last mile of the movement of an intermodal container.
We are providing this service both to and from ports and rail heads. Our Intermodal segment also provides dedicated
contract and Container Freight Station (“CFS”) warehouse and handling services. Today Intermodal operates primarily
in the Midwest but through acquisition as well as green-field start-ups we anticipate moving into other geographies
within the United States.

In our Pool Distribution segment, we provide pool distribution services throughout the Mid-Atlantic, Southeast,
Midwest and Southwest continental United States. Pool distribution involves managing high-frequency handling and
distribution of time-sensitive product to numerous destinations in specific geographic regions. Our primary customers
for this service are regional and nationwide distributors and retailers, such as mall, strip mall and outlet based retail
chains.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and with the instructions to
Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes
required by United States generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation
have been included. The Company’s operating results are subject to seasonal trends when measured on a quarterly
basis; therefore operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016. For further information, refer to
the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Forward Air Corporation Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company include Forward Air
Corporation and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

2.    Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued guidance that changes the accounting for
certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. The guidance requires the recognition of the income tax effects
of awards in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled, thus eliminating additional paid in capital
(APIC) pools. The guidance also allows for the employer to repurchase more of an employee’s shares for tax
withholding purposes without triggering liability accounting. In addition, the guidance allows for a policy election to
account for forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis. The guidance is effective in 2017 with early
adoption permitted. We plan to adopt this guidance in January 2017 and while the elimination of APIC pools will
result in increased volatility of our effective tax rate, the overall impact is expected to be minimal.

6
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2016

In February 2016, the FASB, issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which introduces the recognition of lease assets and lease
liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under previous guidance. The guidance will be
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those fiscal years
with early adoption permitted. We are evaluating the impact of the future adoption of this standard on our
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update No. 2015-17, "Balance Sheet Classification of
Deferred Taxes", an update to ASC 740, Income Taxes (“Update”). Current GAAP requires an entity to separate
deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified statement of financial
position. To simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes, the amendments in this Update require that deferred
tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. The current
requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a
single amount is not affected by the amendments in this Update. For public business entities, the amendments in this
Update are effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim
periods within those annual periods. The FASB also decided to permit earlier application by all entities as of the
beginning of any interim or annual reporting period. The FASB further provides that this Update may be applied to all
deferred tax liabilities and assets retrospectively to all periods presented. We adopted the Update retrospectively for
the year ended December 31, 2015.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance on revenue from contracts with customers that will supersede most current
revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The underlying principle is that an entity will
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the entity expects to be
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance provides a five-step analysis of transactions to
determine when and how revenue is recognized. Other major provisions include capitalization of certain contract
costs, consideration of time value of money in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable consideration
to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The guidance also requires enhanced
disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s
contracts with customers. The guidance is effective for the interim and annual periods beginning on or after December
15, 2017. The guidance permits the use of either a retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. We have not
yet selected a transition method and are currently evaluating the impact of the amended guidance on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations and related disclosures.

3.    Acquisitions and Goodwill

Acquisition of Towne

On March 9, 2015, the Company acquired CLP Towne Inc. (“Towne”) pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger
(the “Merger Agreement”) resulting in Towne becoming an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. For the
acquisition of Towne, the Company paid $61,878 in net cash and assumed $59,544 in debt and capital leases. With the
exception of assumed capital leases, the assumed debt was immediately paid in full after funding of the acquisition. Of
the total aggregate cash consideration paid, $16,500 was placed into an escrow account, with $2,000 of such amount
being available to settle any shortfall in Towne’s net working capital and with $14,500 of such amount being available
for a period of time to settle certain possible claims against Towne’s common stockholders for indemnification. To the
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extent the escrow fund is insufficient, certain equity holders have agreed to indemnify Forward Air, subject to certain
limitations set forth in the Merger Agreement, as a result of inaccuracies in or breaches of certain of Towne’s
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements and other matters. Forward Air financed the Merger Agreement
with a $125,000 2 year term loan available under the senior credit facility discussed in note 5.

Towne is a full-service trucking provider offering time-sensitive less-than-truckload shipping, full truckload service,
an extensive cartage network, container freight stations and dedicated trucking. Towne’s airport-to-airport network
provides scheduled deliveries to 61 service points. A fleet of approximately 525 independent contractor tractors
provides the line-haul between those service points. The acquisition of Towne provides the Expedited LTL and TLX
segments with opportunities to expand their service points and service offerings, such as pick up and delivery services.
Additional benefits of the acquisition include increased linehaul network shipping density and a significant increase to
our owner operator fleet, both of which are key to the profitability of the Company.

The assets, liabilities, and operating results of Towne have been included in the Company's consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition and have been assigned to the Expedited LTL and TLX reportable segments.
As the operations of Towne

7
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2016

were fully integrated into the Company's existing networks and operations, the Company is not able to provide the
revenue and operating results from Towne included in our consolidated revenue and results since the date of
acquisition.
Effective with the acquisition of Towne, the Company immediately entered into a restructuring plan to remove
duplicate costs, primarily in the form of, but not limited to salaries, wages and benefits and facility leases. As a result
of these plans, during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 the Company recognized expense and recorded
liabilities of $2,588 and $11,290 for severance obligations and remaining net payments on vacated, duplicate facilities,
respectively. The expenses associated with the severance obligations and vacated, duplicate facilities were recognized
in the salaries, wages and benefits and operating lease line items, respectively. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, the Company also incurred expense of $9,059 for various other integration and transaction
related costs which are largely included in other operating expenses.
In conjunction with the Towne acquisition, the Company vacated certain duplicate facilities under long-term
non-cancelable leases and recorded contract termination costs. As of September 30, 2016, the Company's reserve for
remaining payments on vacated facilities was $4,775. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016,
we paid $700 and $3,862 respectively in recurring payments on these non-cancelable leases.
Acquisition of Triumph and Ace

As part of the Company's strategy to expand its Intermodal operations, in August 2016, we acquired certain assets of
Triumph Transport, Inc. and Triumph Repair Service, Inc. (together referred to as “Triumph”) for $10,100 and a
potential earnout of $1,250. The assets, liabilities, and operating results of Triumph have been included in the
Company's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and have been assigned to the Intermodal
reportable segment.
In January 2016, the Company also acquired certain assets of Ace Cargo, LLC ("Ace") for $1,700. The assets,
liabilities, and operating results of Ace have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from
the date of acquisition and have been assigned to the Intermodal reportable segment.
Allocations of Purchase Prices
The following table presents the allocations of the Towne, Triumph and Ace purchase prices to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values and resulting residual goodwill (in thousands):

8
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2016

Triumph
& Ace Towne

2016 March
9, 2015

Tangible assets:
Accounts receivable $— $24,068
Prepaid expenses and other current assets — 2,916
Property and equipment 1,294 2,095
Other assets — 614
Total tangible assets 1,294 29,693
Intangible assets:
Non-compete agreements 139 —
Customer relationships 5,335 66,000
Goodwill 6,282 59,666
Total intangible assets 11,756 125,666
Total assets acquired 13,050 155,359

Liabilities assumed:
Current liabilities — 28,920
Other liabilities 1,250 3,886
Debt and capital lease obligations — 59,544
Deferred income taxes — 1,131
Total liabilities assumed 1,250 93,481
Net assets acquired $11,800 $61,878

The acquired definite-live intangible assets have the following useful lives:
Useful Lives
Triumph & Ace Towne

Customer relationships 15 years 20 years
Non-compete agreements 5 years -
The fair value of the non-compete agreements and customer relationships assets were estimated using an income
approach (level 3). Under this method, an intangible asset's fair value is equal to the present value of the incremental
after-tax cash flows (excess earnings) attributable solely to the intangible asset over its remaining useful life. To
estimate fair value, the Company used cash flows discounted at rates considered appropriate given the inherent risks
associated with each type of asset. The Company believes that the level and timing of cash flows appropriately reflect
market participant assumptions. Cash flows were assumed to extend through the remaining economic useful life of
each class of intangible asset.
Pro forma
The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of the Company's consolidated results of
operations as if the Towne acquisition occurred as of January 1, 2015 (in thousands, except per share data).

9
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2016

Nine months ended
September
30, 2016

September 30,
2015

Operating revenue $717,737$ 736,932
Income from operations 31,756 50,451
Net income 14,964 29,868
Net income per share
Basic $0.49 $ 0.97
Diluted $0.49 $ 0.96
The unaudited pro forma consolidated results for the nine month periods are based on the historical financial
information of Towne. The unaudited pro forma consolidated results incorporate historical financial information since
January 1, 2015. The historical financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma adjustments that
are: (i) directly attributable to the acquisition, (ii) factually supportable and (iii) expected to have a continuing impact
on the combined results. The unaudited pro forma consolidated results are not necessarily indicative of what the
Company’s consolidated results of operations actually would have been had it completed these acquisitions on January
1, 2015.
Goodwill
The Company conducted its annual impairment assessments and tests of goodwill for each reporting unit as of June
30, 2016.  The first step of the goodwill impairment test is the Company's assessment of qualitative factors to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the reporting unit's
carrying amount, including goodwill. When performing the qualitative assessment, the Company considers the impact
of factors including, but not limited to, macroeconomic and industry conditions, overall financial performance of each
reporting unit, litigation and new legislation. If based on the qualitative assessments, the Company believes it more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the reporting unit's carrying amount, or periodically as
deemed appropriate by management, the Company will prepare an estimation of the respective reporting unit's fair
value utilizing a quantitative approach.  If a quantitative fair value estimation is required, the Company estimates the
fair value of the applicable reportable units, using a combination of discounted projected cash flows and market
valuations for comparable companies as of the valuation date.  The Company's inputs into the fair value estimates for
goodwill are classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as defined in the FASB Accounting Standards
Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“the FASB Codification”). If this
estimation of fair value indicates that impairment potentially exists, the Company will then measure the amount of the
impairment, if any.  Goodwill impairment exists when the estimated implied fair value of goodwill is less than its
carrying value.  Changes in strategy or market conditions could significantly impact these fair value estimates and
require adjustments to recorded asset balances.

Our 2016 assessments and calculations for LTL, Intermodal and Pool Distribution indicated that, as of June 30, 2016,
the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded their carrying value. However, due to the financial performance of the
Total Quality, Inc. ("TQI") reporting unit falling notably short of previous projections, declining revenue from
significant customers and strategic initiatives not having the required impact on financial results, the Company
reduced TQI's projected cash flows and as a result the estimate of TQI's fair value no longer exceeded the respective
carrying value. As a result of these assessments, the Company concluded that an impairment loss was probable and
could be reasonably estimated for the TQI reporting unit, which is included in the TLX reportable segment.
Consequently, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $25,686 for the TQI reporting unit during the
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three months ended June 30, 2016.

The following is a summary of the changes in goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
Approximately $100,156 of goodwill, not including the goodwill acquired with the Towne acquisition, is deductible
for tax purposes.
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2016

Expedited LTL Expedited
Truckload Pool Distribution Intermodal Total

Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated
GoodwillImpairmentGoodwillImpairment GoodwillImpairment GoodwillImpairmentNet

Beginning balance,
December 31, 2015 $99,123 $ —$45,164$— $12,359$ (6,953 ) $55,916 $ —$205,609

Triumph and Ace
Acquisition — — — — — — 6,282 — 6,282

TQI impairment — — — (25,686 ) — — — — (25,686 )
Adjustment to Towne
acquisition (1,530 )— — — — — — — (1,530 )

Ending balance, September
30, 2016 $97,593 $ —$45,164$ (25,686 ) $12,359$ (6,953 ) $62,198 $ —$184,675

Additionally, the Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment is recognized on assets classified as held and
used when the sum of undiscounted estimated cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset is less than the
carrying value. If such measurement indicates a possible impairment, the estimated fair value of the asset is compared
to its net book value to measure the impairment charge, if any. In conjunction with the TQI goodwill impairment
assessment the Company determined there were indicators that TQI's customer relationship and non-compete
intangible assets were impaired as the undiscounted cash flows associated with the applicable assets no longer
exceeded the related assets' net book values. The Company then estimated the current market values of the customer
relationship and non-compete assets using an income approach (level 3). Under this method, an intangible asset's fair
value is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows (excess earnings) attributable solely to the
intangible asset over its remaining useful life. To estimate fair value, the Company used cash flows discounted at rates
considered appropriate given the inherent risks associated with each type of asset. The Company believes that the
level and timing of cash flows appropriately reflect market participant assumptions. As a result of these estimates the
Company recorded an impairment charge of $16,501 related to TQI customer relationships.

The Company is still in the process of finalizing certain valuations related to the goodwill and customer relationship
impairment analyses. Adjustments, if any, to its estimates as a result of completing its valuation analysis will be
recorded during the three months ended December 31, 2016.

In addition, during the three months ended June 30, 2016, the Company also discontinued use of an owned
maintenance facility and began efforts to sell the property. In conjunction with these actions, the Company incurred a
$255 impairment charge that was estimated using current offers received to sell the property less estimated cost to sell
the facility.

4.    Share-Based Payments

The Company’s general practice has been to make a single annual grant of share-based compensation to key employees
and to make other employee grants only in connection with new employment or promotions.  Forms of share-based
compensation granted to employees by the Company include stock options, non-vested shares of common stock
(“non-vested share”), and performance shares.  The Company also typically makes a single annual grant of non-vested
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shares to non-employee directors in conjunction with the annual election of non-employee directors to the Board of
Directors.  Share-based compensation is based on the grant date fair value of the instrument and is recognized, net of
estimated forfeitures, ratably over the requisite service period, or vesting period. The Company estimates forfeitures
based upon historical experience.  All share-based compensation expense is recognized in salaries, wages and
employee benefits.

Employee Activity - Stock Options

Stock option grants to employees generally expire seven years from the grant date and typically vest ratably over a
three-year period.  The Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the grant-date fair value of
options granted.  The weighted-average fair value of options granted and assumptions used to estimate their fair value
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

11
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Three months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Expected
dividend
yield

— % 1.2 %

Expected
stock price
volatility

— % 29.8 %

Weighted
average
risk-free
interest rate

— % 1.4 %

Expected
life of
options
(years)

— 4.5

Weighted
average
grant date
fair value

$ — $ 12

Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Expected
dividend
yield

1.0 % 1.0 %

Expected
stock price
volatility

29.0 % 33.7 %

Weighted
average
risk-free
interest rate

1.3 % 1.6 %

Expected
life of
options
(years)

6.0 6.0

Weighted
average
grant date

$ 12 $ 16
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The following tables summarize the Company’s employee stock option activity and related information:

Three months ended September 30,
2016

Weighted-
Weighted-AggregateAverage
Average Intrinsic Remaining

OptionsExercise Value Contractual
(000) Price (000) Term

Outstanding at June 30, 2016 855 $ 34
Granted — —
Exercised (263)23
Forfeited — —
Outstanding at September 30, 2016 592 $ 40 $ 3,355 4.0
Exercisable at September 30, 2016 364 $ 36 $ 3,351 2.8

Three months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for options $377 $ 352
Tax benefit for option compensation $140 $ 137
Unrecognized compensation cost for options, net of estimated forfeitures $2,036$ 1,977
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 1.9

Nine months ended September 30, 2016
Weighted-

Weighted- Aggregate Average
Average Intrinsic Remaining

OptionsExercise Value Contractual
(000) Price (000) Term

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 786 $ 32
Granted 122 44
Exercised (311) 23
Forfeited (5 ) 38
Outstanding at September 30, 2016 592 $ 40 $ 3,355 4.0
Exercisable at September 30, 2016 364 $ 36 $ 3,351 2.8

Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for options $1,101 $ 1,029
Tax benefit for option compensation $407 $ 403
Unrecognized compensation cost for options, net of estimated forfeitures $2,036 $ 1,977
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Employee Activity - Non-vested Shares

Non-vested share grants to employees vest ratably over a three-year period.  The non-vested shares’ fair values were
estimated using closing market prices on the day of grant. The following tables summarize the Company’s employee
non-vested share activity and related information:

Three months ended
September 30, 2016

Weighted-Aggregate

Non-vestedAverage Grant
Date

SharesGrantDate Fair Value

(000)Fair Value(000)
Outstanding and non-vested at June 30, 2016 228 $ 45
Granted — —
Vested (1 )47
Forfeited (3 )45
Outstanding and non-vested at September 30, 2016 224 $ 45 $ 10,173

Three months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for non-vested shares $1,176$ 1,031
Tax benefit for non-vested share compensation $434 $ 403
Unrecognized compensation cost for non-vested shares, net of estimated forfeitures $7,147$ 6,148
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 2.0

Nine months ended
September 30, 2016

Weighted- Aggregate

Non-vestedAverage Grant
Date

SharesGrantDate Fair Value

(000) Fair Value (000)
Outstanding and non-vested at December 31, 2015 191 $ 46
Granted 134 44
Vested (94 ) 44
Forfeited (7 ) 46
Outstanding and non-vested at September 30, 2016 224 $ 45 $ 10,173

Nine months ended
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September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for non-vested shares $3,434 $ 3,042
Tax benefit for non-vested share compensation $1,270 $ 1,190
Unrecognized compensation cost for non-vested shares, net of estimated forfeitures $7,147 $ 6,148
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 2.0
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Employee Activity - Performance Shares

The Company annually grants performance shares to key employees.  Under the terms of the performance share
agreements, on the third anniversary of the grant date, the Company will issue to the employees a calculated number
of common stock shares based on the three year performance of the Company’s total shareholder return as compared to
the total shareholder return of a selected peer group.  No shares may be issued if the Company's total shareholder
return outperforms 30% or less of the peer group, but the number of shares issued may be doubled if the Company's
total shareholder return performs better than 90% of the peer group.  The fair value of the performance shares was
estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation. The weighted average assumptions used in the Monte Carlo estimate were
as follows:

Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Expected
stock price
volatility

22.3 % 23.5 %

Weighted
average
risk-free
interest rate

0.8 % 1.0 %

The following tables summarize the Company’s employee performance share activity, assuming median share awards,
and related information:

Three months ended
September 30, 2016
Weighted-Aggregate

PerformanceAverage Grant
Date

SharesGrant
Date Fair Value

(000)Fair Value(000)
Outstanding and non-vested at June 30, 2016 80$ 55
Granted ——
Additional shares awarded based on performance ——
Vested ——
Outstanding and non-vested at September 30, 2016 80$ 55 $ 4,373

Three months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for performance shares $367 $ 337
Tax benefit for performance share compensation $136 $ 132
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Unrecognized compensation cost for performance shares, net of estimated forfeitures $2,076$ 2,062
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 1.8
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Nine months ended
September 30, 2016

Weighted- Aggregate

PerformanceAverage Grant
Date

SharesGrantDate Fair Value

(000)Fair Value (000)
Outstanding and non-vested at December 31, 2015 77 $ 52
Granted 29 49
Additional shares awarded based on performance 7 40
Vested (33) 40
Outstanding and non-vested at September 30, 2016 80 $ 55 $ 4,373

Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for performance shares $1,080 $ 972
Tax benefit for performance share compensation $400 $ 380
Unrecognized compensation cost for performance shares, net of estimated forfeitures $2,076 $ 2,062
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 1.8

Employee Activity - Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Under the 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which has been approved by shareholders, the Company
is authorized to issue up to a remaining 387,395 shares of common stock to employees of the Company. These shares
may be issued at a price equal to 90% of the lesser of the market value on the first day or the last day of each
six-month purchase period. Common stock purchases are paid for through periodic payroll deductions and/or up to
two large lump sum contributions. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, participants under the plan
purchased 5,592 shares at an average price of $38.50 per share. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015,
participants under the plan purchased 5,087 shares at an average price of $44.74 per share. The weighted-average fair
value of each purchase right under the ESPP granted for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, which is equal to
the discount from the market value of the common stock at the end of each six month purchase period, was $6.03 per
share. The weighted-average fair value of each purchase right under the ESPP granted for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, which is equal to the discount from the market value of the common stock at the end of each six
month purchase period, was $7.52 per share. Share-based compensation expense of $34 and $37 was recognized
during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Non-employee Director Activity - Non-vested Shares

Grants of non-vested shares to non-employee directors vest ratably over the elected term to the Board of Directors, or
approximately one year.  The following tables summarize the Company’s non-employee non-vested share activity and
related information:
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Three months ended
September 30, 2016
Weighted-Aggregate

Non-vestedAverage Grant
Date

SharesGrant
Date Fair Value

(000)Fair Value(000)
Outstanding and non-vested at June 30, 2016 16$ 44
Granted ——
Vested ——
Outstanding and non-vested at September 30, 2016 16$ 44 $ 688

Three months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for non-vested shares $ 173 $ 166
Tax benefit for non-vested share compensation $ 64 $ 65
Unrecognized compensation cost for non-vested shares, net of estimated forfeitures $ 419 $ 424
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 0.6

Nine months ended
September 30, 2016

Weighted- Aggregate

Non-vestedAverage Grant
Date

SharesGrantDate Fair Value

(000)Fair Value (000)
Outstanding and non-vested at December 31, 2015 15 $ 51
Granted 16 44
Vested (15) 51
Outstanding and non-vested at September 30, 2016 16 $ 44 $ 688

Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Share-based compensation for non-vested shares $ 555 $ 482
Tax benefit for non-vested share compensation $ 198 $ 189
Unrecognized compensation cost for non-vested shares, net of estimated forfeitures $ 419 $ 424
Weighted average period over which unrecognized compensation will be recognized (years) 0.6

5.    Senior Credit Facility
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On February 4, 2015, the Company entered into a five-year senior, unsecured credit facility (the “Facility”) with a
maximum aggregate principal amount of $275,000, including a revolving credit facility of $150,000 and a term loan
facility of $125,000. The revolving credit facility has a sublimit of $25,000 for letters of credit and a sublimit of
$15,000 for swing line loans. The revolving credit facility is scheduled to expire in February 2020 and may be used to
refinance existing indebtedness of the Company and for working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes. Unless the Company elects otherwise under the credit agreement, interest on borrowings under the
Facility are based on the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, (b)
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the administrative agent's prime rate and (c) the LIBOR Rate plus 1.0%, in each case plus a margin that can range
from 0.1% to 0.6% with respect to the term loan facility and from 0.3% to 0.8% with respect to the revolving credit
facility depending on the Company’s ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness to earnings as set forth in the credit
agreement. The Facility contains financial covenants and other covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability
of the Company, without the approval of the lenders, to engage in certain mergers, consolidations, asset sales,
investments, transactions or to incur liens or indebtedness, as set forth in the credit agreement. As of September 30,
2016, the Company had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility. At September 30, 2016, the
Company had utilized $9,414 of availability for outstanding letters of credit and had $140,586 of available borrowing
capacity outstanding under the revolving credit facility.  

In conjunction with the acquisition of Towne (see note 3), the Company borrowed $125,000 on the available term
loan. The term loan is payable in quarterly installments of 11.1% of the original principal amount of the term loan plus
accrued and unpaid interest, and matures in March 2017. The interest rate on the term loan was 1.8% at September 30,
2016. The remaining balance on the term loan was $41,675 as of September 30, 2016 and is a current liability. The
balance on the term loan was $83,338 and the interest rate was 1.5% as of December 31, 2015.

6.    Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:
Three months ended Nine months ended
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Numerator:
Net income and comprehensive income $11,931 $ 15,687 $14,964 $ 32,347
Income allocated to participating securities (93 ) (104 ) (114 ) (215 )
Numerator for basic and diluted income per share - net income $11,838 $ 15,583 $14,850 $ 32,132
Denominator (in thousands):
Denominator for basic income per share - weighted-average shares 30,191 30,715 30,316 30,750
Effect of dilutive stock options (in thousands) 117 250 151 300
Effect of dilutive performance shares (in thousands) 30 33 29 34
Denominator for diluted income per share - adjusted
weighted-average shares 30,338 30,998 30,496 31,084

Basic net income per share $0.39 $ 0.51 $0.49 $ 1.04
Diluted net income per share $0.39 $ 0.50 $0.49 $ 1.03

The number of instruments that could potentially dilute net income per basic share in the future, but that were not
included in the computation of net income per diluted share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive for the
periods presented, are as follows:

September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

Anti-dilutive stock options (in thousands) 309 176
Anti-dilutive performance shares (in thousands) — 23
Anti-dilutive non-vested shares and deferred stock units (in thousands) — —
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Total anti-dilutive shares (in thousands) 309 199

7.    Income Taxes

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states and
Canada. With a few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or Canadian
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2010.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the effective income tax rates varied from the
statutory federal income tax rate of 35.0%, primarily as a result of the effect of state income taxes, net of the federal
benefit, and permanent differences between book and tax net income. The combined federal and state effective tax
rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 50.7% compared to a rate of 36.8% for the same period in
2015.  The increase in the 2016 effective tax rate was attributable to the TQI goodwill write off (Note 3) that is not
deductible for tax purposes.

8.    Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair value disclosures for
financial instruments:

Accounts receivable and accounts payable: The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for accounts receivable
and accounts payable approximate their fair value based on their short-term nature.

The Company’s revolving credit facility and term loan bear variable interest rates plus additional basis points based
upon covenants related to total indebtedness to earnings.  As the term loan bears a variable interest rate, the carrying
value approximates fair value. Using interest rate quotes and discounted cash flows, the Company estimated the fair
value of its outstanding capital lease obligations as follows:

September 30,
2016
Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Capital leases $1,103 $1,220

The Company's fair value estimates for the above financial instruments are classified within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

9.    Shareholders' Equity

During each quarter of 2015 and the first, second and third quarters of 2016, the Company's Board of Directors
declared a cash dividend of $0.12 per share of common stock. The Company expects to continue to pay regular
quarterly cash dividends, though each subsequent quarterly dividend is subject to review and approval by the Board of
Directors.

On February 7, 2014, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase authorization for up to two million shares of
our common stock. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we repurchased 222,388 shares for $9,996, or
an average of $44.95 per share. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we repurchased 676,773 shares
for $29,986, or an average of $44.31 per share. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we
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repurchased 204,590 for $9,996, or $48.86 per share.

On July 21, 2016, our Board of Directors canceled the Company’s remaining 2014 share repurchase authorization and
approved a stock repurchase authorization for up to three million shares of the Company’s common stock. All shares
remain for repurchase, as shares repurchased in the three months ended September 30, 2016 were made under the
2014 plan.

10.    Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company is party to ordinary, routine litigation incidental to and arising in the normal course
of business.  The Company does not believe that any of these pending actions, individually or in the aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.

The primary claims in the Company’s business relate to workers’ compensation, property damage, vehicle liability and
medical benefits. Most of the Company’s insurance coverage provides for self-insurance levels with primary and
excess coverage which management believes is sufficient to adequately protect the Company from catastrophic
claims. In the opinion of management, adequate provision has been made for all incurred claims up to the self-insured
limits, including provision for estimated claims incurred but not reported.
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The Company estimates its self-insurance loss exposure by evaluating the merits and circumstances surrounding
individual known claims and by performing hindsight and actuarial analysis to determine an estimate of probable
losses on claims incurred but not reported.  Such losses should be realized immediately as the events underlying the
claims have already occurred as of the balance sheet dates. 

Because of the uncertainty of the ultimate resolution of outstanding claims, as well as uncertainty regarding claims
incurred but not reported, it is possible that management’s provision for these losses could change materially in the
near term. However, no estimate can currently be made of the range of additional loss that is at least reasonably
possible.

11.    Segment Reporting

The Company operates in four reportable segments based on information available to and used by the chief operating
decision maker.  Expedited LTL provides time-definite transportation and logistics services to the deferred air freight
market.  The TLX segment provides expedited truckload brokerage, dedicated fleet services and maximum security
and temperature-controlled logistics services. Our Intermodal segment provides container and intermodal drayage
services. Pool Distribution provides pool distribution services primarily to regional and national distributors and
retailers.

During the first quarter of 2016, the Company changed its reportable segments to separate its truckload and
intermodal businesses from our Expedited LTL service and to aggregate reporting for truckload services into a single
segment. The Company previously reported three segments: Forward Air, Forward Air Solutions and Total Quality,
Inc. Consequently, the Company now reports four segments: Expedited LTL, Expedited Truckload Services (“TLX”),
Intermodal and Pool Distribution. All prior year segment amounts have been restated to reflect this new reporting
structure.
Except for certain insurance activity, the accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in
the Company’s 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. For workers compensation and vehicle claims each segment is
charged an insurance premium and is also charged a deductible that corresponds with the our corporate deductibles
disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s 2015 Annual Report on Form
10-K. However, any losses beyond our deductibles and any loss development factors applied to our outstanding
claims as a result of actuary analysis are not passed to the segments, but kept at the corporate level.

Segment data includes intersegment revenues.  Assets and costs of the corporate headquarters are allocated to the
segments based on usage.  The Company evaluates the performance of its segments based on income from
operations.  The Company’s business is conducted in the U.S. and Canada.

The following tables summarize segment information about results from operations and assets used by the chief
operating decision maker of the Company in making decisions regarding allocation of assets and resources as of and
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.
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Three months ended September 30, 2016
Expedited
LTL

Expedited
Truckload

Pool
Distribution Intermodal Eliminations& other Consolidated

External revenues $143,753 $ 41,927 $ 36,305 $ 27,567 $ — $ 249,552
Intersegment revenues 584 283 132 12 (1,011 ) —
Depreciation and amortization 5,470 1,470 1,472 987 — 9,399
Share-based compensation expense 1,792 98 84 119 — 2,093
Interest expense 385 — — 12 (181 ) 216
Income (loss) from operations 21,014 2,038 66 3,041 (1,459 ) 24,700
Total assets 634,028 52,465 46,327 128,048 (219,355 ) 641,513
Capital expenditures 11,915 36 722 11 — 12,684

Three months ended September 30, 2015
Expedited
LTL

Expedited
Truckload

Pool
Distribution Intermodal Eliminations& other Consolidated

External revenues $148,647 $ 38,088 $ 31,949 $ 28,568 $ (159 ) $ 247,093
Intersegment revenues 565 440 184 322 (1,511 ) —
Depreciation and amortization 5,403 1,590 1,451 939 16 9,399
Share-based compensation expense 1,514 219 69 84 — 1,886
Interest expense 535 — — 19 — 554
Income (loss) from operations 21,594 3,170 555 3,536 (4,254 ) 24,601
Total assets 652,946 89,659 45,017 118,035 (206,992 ) 698,665
Capital expenditures 3,484 1,879 1,108 108 — 6,579
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Nine months ended September 30, 2016
Expedited
LTL

Expedited
Truckload

Pool
Distribution Intermodal Eliminations& other Consolidated

External revenues $421,194 $119,574 $ 100,726 $ 76,243 $ — $ 717,737
Intersegment revenues 2,216 696 427 148 (3,487 ) —
Depreciation and amortization 16,278 4,944 4,434 2,753 — 28,409
Share-based compensation expense 5,353 260 251 340 — 6,204
Interest expense 1,345 — — 66 (181 ) 1,230
Income (loss) from operations 63,026 (36,679 ) (191 ) 8,170 (2,570 ) 31,756
Total assets 634,028 52,465 46,327 128,048 (219,355 ) 641,513
Capital expenditures 24,487 1,821 2,275 142 — 28,725

Nine months ended September 30, 2015
Expedited
LTL

Expedited
Truckload

Pool
Distribution Intermodal Eliminations& other Consolidated

External revenues $425,992 $110,935 $ 86,460 $ 78,705 $ 613 $ 702,705
Intersegment revenues 1,285 1,460 580 707 (4,032 ) —
Depreciation and amortization 15,707 4,514 4,492 2,854 34 27,601
Share-based compensation expense 4,511 637 220 194 — 5,562
Interest expense 1,058 — — 65 366 1,489
Income (loss) from operations 57,275 10,521 758 8,843 (24,639 ) 52,758
Total assets 652,946 89,659 45,017 118,035 (206,992 ) 698,665
Capital expenditures 8,834 5,968 3,344 395 — 18,541
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Item 2.Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview and Executive Summary

Our services are classified into four principal reportable segments: Expedited LTL, Expedited Truckload Services
(“TLX”), Intermodal and Pool Distribution.

Through the Expedited LTL segment, we provide time-definite transportation services to the North American deferred
air freight market. Our Expedited LTL service operates a comprehensive national network for the time-definite surface
transportation of expedited ground freight. The Expedited LTL service offers customers local pick-up and delivery
and scheduled surface transportation of cargo as a cost effective, reliable alternative to air transportation. Expedited
LTL’s other services include shipment consolidation and deconsolidation, warehousing, customs brokerage, and other
handling. The Expedited LTL segment primarily provides its transportation services through a network of terminals
located at or near airports in the United States and Canada.

Through our TLX segment we provide expedited truckload brokerage, dedicated fleet services and maximum security
and temperature-controlled logistics services. We are able to expedite this service by utilizing a dedicated fleet of team
owner operators, some team company drivers as well as third party transportation providers. The TLX segment
provides full truckload service in the United States and Canada.

Our Intermodal segment provides container and intermodal drayage services primarily within the Midwest region of
the United States. Drayage is essentially the first and last mile of the movement of an intermodal container. We are
providing this service both to and from ports and rail heads. Our Intermodal segment also provides dedicated contract
and Container Freight Station (“CFS”) warehouse and handling services. Today Intermodal operates primarily in the
Midwest but through acquisition as well as green-field start-ups we anticipate moving into other geographies within
the United States.

We provide pool distribution services throughout the Mid-Atlantic, Southeast, Midwest and Southwest continental
United States. Pool distribution involves managing high-frequency handling and distribution of time-sensitive product
to numerous destinations in specific geographic regions. Our primary customers for this service are regional and
nationwide distributors and retailers, such as mall, strip mall and outlet based retail chains.

Our operations, particularly our network of hubs and terminals, represent substantial fixed costs. Consequently, our
ability to increase our earnings depends in significant part on our ability to increase the amount of freight and the
revenue per pound for the freight shipped through our networks and to grow other lines of businesses, such as
Truckload, Intermodal and Pool Distribution, which will allow us to maintain revenue growth in challenging shipping
environments.

Trends and Developments

Acquisition of Towne

On March 9, 2015, we completed the acquisition of CLP Towne Inc. (“Towne”). Towne is a full-service trucking
provider offering time-sensitive less-than-truckload shipping, full truckload service, an extensive cartage network,
container freight stations and dedicated trucking. For the acquisition of Towne, we paid $61.9 million in net cash and
assumed $59.5 million in debt and capital leases. The transaction was funded with proceeds from a $125 million two
year term loan. The assets, liabilities, and operating results of Towne have been included in the Expedited LTL
reportable segment.
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Acquisition of Triumph and Ace

As part of the Company's strategy to expand its Intermodal operations, in August , we acquired certain assets of
Triumph Transport, Inc. and Triumph Repair Service, Inc. (together referred to as “Triumph”) for $10.1 million and a
potential earnout of $1.3 million. The assets, liabilities, and operating results of Triumph have been included in the
Company's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and have been assigned to the Intermodal
reportable segment.
In January 2016, we acquired certain assets of Ace Cargo, LLC ("Ace") for $1.7 million. The assets, liabilities, and
operating results of Ace have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from the date of
acquisition and have been assigned to the Intermodal reportable segment.

23

Edgar Filing: FORWARD AIR CORP - Form 10-Q

40



Table of Contents

Change in Reportable Segments
During the first quarter of 2016, we changed our reportable segments to separate our truckload and intermodal
businesses from our Expedited LTL service and to aggregate our reporting for truckload services into a single
segment. We previously reported three segments: Forward Air, Forward Air Solutions and Total Quality, Inc.
Consequently, we now report four segments: Expedited LTL, Expedited Truckload Services (“TLX”), Intermodal and
Pool Distribution. All prior year segment amounts have been restated to reflect this new reporting structure.
Goodwill

In conjunction with our policy to annually test goodwill for impairment as of June 30 we determined there were
indicators of potential impairment of the goodwill and other long lived assets assigned to the TQI acquisition. This
determination was based on TQI's financial performance falling notably short of previous projections, declining
revenue from significant customers and strategic initiatives not having the required impact on financial results. As a
result of these factors we reduced TQI's projected cash flows and consequently the estimate of TQI's fair value no
longer exceeded the respective carrying value.  Based on the results of the impairment test, we concluded that an
impairment loss was probable and could be reasonably estimated.  Therefore, during the second quarter of 2016, we
recorded impairment charges for goodwill, intangibles and other assets of $42.4 million related to the TQI reporting
unit. 
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Results from Operations
The following table sets forth our consolidated historical financial data for the three months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 (in millions):

Three months ended September 30

2016 2015 Change PercentChange
Operating revenue:
Expedited LTL $144.3 $149.2 $ (4.9 ) (3.3 )%
Expedited Truckload 42.2 38.5 3.7 9.6
Pool Distribution 36.4 32.1 4.3 13.4
Intermodal 27.6 28.9 (1.3 ) (4.5 )
Eliminations and other operations (1.0 ) (1.6 ) 0.6 (37.5)
Operating revenue 249.5 247.1 2.4 1.0
Operating expenses:
   Purchased transportation 105.0 104.4 0.6 0.6
   Salaries, wages, and employee benefits 60.2 59.1 1.1 1.9
   Operating leases 16.2 17.0 (0.8 ) (4.7 )
   Depreciation and amortization 9.4 9.4 — —
   Insurance and claims 7.2 5.2 2.0 38.5
   Fuel expense 3.4 3.8 (0.4 ) (10.5)
   Other operating expenses 23.4 23.6 (0.2 ) (0.8 )
      Total operating expenses 224.8 222.5 2.3 1.0
Income from operations:
Expedited LTL 21.0 21.6 (0.6 ) (2.8 )
Expedited Truckload 2.0 3.2 (1.2 ) (37.5)
Pool Distribution 0.1 0.5 (0.4 ) (80.0)
Intermodal 3.0 3.5 (0.5 ) (14.3)
Other operations (1.4 ) (4.2 ) 2.8 (66.7)
Income from operations 24.7 24.6 0.1 0.4
Other expense:
   Interest expense (0.2 ) (0.5 ) 0.3 (60.0)
      Total other expense (0.2 ) (0.5 ) 0.3 (60.0)
Income before income taxes 24.5 24.1 0.4 1.7
Income taxes 12.6 8.4 4.2 50.0
Net income $11.9 $15.7 $ (3.8 ) (24.2)%
During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we experienced a 1.0% increase in our consolidated revenues
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2015. Operating income increased $0.1 million, or 0.4%, from
2015 to $24.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Segment Operations

Expedited LTL's revenue decreased $4.9 million, or 3.3%, while operating income decreased $0.6 million, or 2.8% for
the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same period in 2015. The decrease of Expedited LTL's
revenue was the result of lower airport-to-airport volumes due to a sluggish economic environment and reduced net
fuel surcharge revenue as a result of the decline in fuel prices since the third quarter of 2015. The revenue decrease
was partially offset by improved pricing, the implementation of the February 2016 change to our dim-factor standard
and further operating efficiencies leading to a slight increase in operating income as a percentage of revenue.
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TLX's revenue increased $3.7 million, or 9.6%, but operating income decreased $1.2 million, or 37.5%, for the three
months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same period in 2015. The increase in revenue was due to an
increase in overall miles and
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new business wins. The decrease of TLX's operating income was the result of the decline of higher-margin
pharmaceutical business and TLX revenue per mile declining at a faster pace than cost per mile.

Pool Distribution revenue increased $4.3 million, or 13.4%, while operating results decreased $0.4 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same period in 2015.  The revenue increase was due to new
business, rate increases and increased volumes. The decline in Pool Distribution operating income was primarily the
result of higher lease costs as Pool Distribution opened new facilities and relocated others to support business wins
since the third quarter of 2015.

Intermodal revenue decreased $1.3 million, or 4.5%, and operating income decreased $0.5 million, or 14.3%, for the
three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same period in 2015. The decreases in operating revenue
and income were primarily attributable to suppressed market conditions, the negative impact of decreased fuel
surcharges and decreased chassis rental and rail storage revenues, partially offset by the Ace and Triumph
acquisitions.

Fuel Surcharge

Our net fuel surcharge revenue is the result of our fuel surcharge rates, which are set weekly using the national
average for diesel price per gallon, and volume transiting our network.  During the three months ended September 30,
2016, total net fuel surcharge revenue decreased 19.9% as compared to the same period in 2015, mostly due to
decreased fuel prices and decreased volumes in the Expedited LTL and Intermodal segments.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to $0.5 million for the
same period of 2015. The decrease in interest expense was attributable to principal payments made on the term loan
used to finance the Towne acquisition in March 2015.

Income Taxes

The combined federal and state effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2016 was 51.3% compared to a rate of
34.8% for the same period in 2015. The higher effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2016 is the result of the
impairment of goodwill in the second quarter of 2016 that is non-deductible for tax purposes. Also, 2015 benefited
from the amending of prior year federal and state income tax returns to take advantage of qualified production
property deductions.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing factors, net income decreased by $3.8 million, or 24.2%, to $11.9 million for the third
quarter of 2016 compared to $15.7 million for the same period in 2015.
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Expedited LTL - Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Expedited LTL segment for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):
Expedited LTL Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $144.3 100.0 % $ 149.2 100.0 % $ (4.9 ) (3.3 )%

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 56.3 39.0 61.7 41.4 (5.4 ) (8.8 )
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 33.8 23.4 35.7 23.9 (1.9 ) (5.3 )
Operating leases 9.0 6.2 8.4 5.6 0.6 7.1
Depreciation and amortization 5.5 3.8 5.4 3.6 0.1 1.9
Insurance and claims 3.9 2.7 2.6 1.7 1.3 50.0
Fuel expense 0.8 0.6 1.0 0.7 (0.2 ) (20.0)
Other operating expenses 14.0 9.7 12.8 8.6 1.2 9.4
Total operating expenses 123.3 85.4 127.6 85.5 (4.3 ) (3.4 )
Income from operations $21.0 14.6 % $ 21.6 14.5 % $ (0.6 ) (2.8 )%

Expedited LTL Operating Statistics

Three months ended
September
30,

September
30, Percent

2016 2015 Change

Operating ratio 85.4 % 85.5 % (0.1 )%

Business days 64.0 64.0 —
Business weeks 12.8 12.8 —

Expedited LTL:
Tonnage
    Total pounds ¹ 588,929 617,066 (4.6 )
    Average weekly pounds ¹ 46,010 48,208 (4.6 )

Linehaul shipments
    Total linehaul 909,787 952,720 (4.5 )
    Average weekly 71,077 74,431 (4.5 )

Forward Air Complete shipments 195,594 223,143 (12.3)
As a percentage of linehaul shipments 21.5 % 23.4 % (8.1 )
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Average linehaul shipment size 647 648 (0.2 )

Revenue per pound 2
    Linehaul yield $17.71 $ 17.07 3.0
    Fuel surcharge impact 1.06 1.16 (0.5 )
    Forward Air Complete impact 3.49 3.44 0.2
Total Expedited LTL yield $22.26 $ 21.67 2.7  %

¹ - In thousands
2 - In dollars per hundred pound; percentage change is expressed as a
percent of total yield.
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Revenues
Expedited LTL (LTL), which is our legacy airport-to-airport service, had operating revenue decrease $4.9 million, or
3.3%, to $144.3 million from $149.2 million, accounting for 57.8% of consolidated operating revenue for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 60.4% for the same period in 2015. The decrease is partly the result of
a $1.2 million, or 1.1%, decrease in linehaul revenue.  The decrease in linehaul revenue is attributable to the decrease
in tonnage, partially offset by the linehaul yield changes noted in the preceding table. The increase in average base
revenue per pound was attributable to targeted rate increases implemented in the fourth quarter of 2015. The decrease
in tonnage is primarily due to the attrition of acquired, poorly-priced Towne revenue since the third quarter of 2015
and a sluggish economic environment slightly offset by the tonnage increases attributable to a February 2016 change
to our dim-factor standard. This change in dim-factor standard allows us to capture more billable tonnage on certain
shipments.
The remaining $3.7 million decrease in LTL revenue is the result of a decrease in Forward Air Complete
("Complete") pick-up and delivery revenue, net fuel surcharge revenue and other terminal based revenues. Complete
revenue decreased $0.7 million, or 3.1%, during the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same
period of 2015. The decrease in Complete revenue was attributable to a decrease in shipping volumes in our LTL
network and an 8.1% decrease in the attachment rate of Complete activity to linehaul shipments. Other terminal based
revenues, which includes warehousing services and terminal handling, decreased $2.1 million, or 13.9%, to $13.2
million in the third quarter of 2016 from $15.3 million in the same period of 2015. The decrease in other terminal
revenue was mainly attributable to attrition of acquired Towne activity. Compared to the same period in 2015, net fuel
surcharge revenue decreased $0.9 million largely due to the decline in fuel prices and volume decreases discussed
previously.
Purchased Transportation
LTL’s purchased transportation decreased by $5.4 million, or 8.8%, to $56.3 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $61.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015. As a percentage of segment
operating revenue, LTL purchased transportation was 39.0% during the three months ended September 30, 2016
compared to 41.4% for the same period in 2015. The decrease in percentage of revenue is due to a 3.9% decrease in
LTL cost per mile, improved revenue per mile due to yield and dim-factor changes discussed previously and improved
network efficiency. The LTL cost per mile decrease and improvement in network efficiencies were largely the result
of higher utilization of owner operators instead of more costly third party transportation providers.
Salaries, Wages, and Benefits
Salaries, wages and employee benefits of LTL decreased by $1.9 million, or 5.3%, to $33.8 million in the third quarter
of 2016 from $35.7 million in the same period of 2015.  Salaries, wages and employee benefits were 23.4% of LTL’s
operating revenue in the third quarter of 2016 compared to 23.9% for the same period of 2015.  The decrease in
salaries, wages and employee benefits in total dollars was primarily attributable to a $3.1 million, or 8.9%, decrease in
direct LTL terminal and management salaries, wages and employee benefits offset by a $1.2 million increase in
corporate support and administrative salaries, wages and employee benefits. The decrease in direct LTL expense is
primarily due to a decrease in employee headcount and employee incentives. Reduction in head count is a result of
operating efficiencies gained since the Towne acquisition. These improvements were partially mitigated by higher
workers' compensation and health insurance costs and increased share based compensation primarily at the corporate
support level.
Operating Leases
Operating leases increased $0.6 million, or 7.1%, to $9.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from
$8.4 million for the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 6.2% of LTL operating revenue for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to 5.6% for the same period in 2015. The increase in cost is due to $0.8 million
of additional facility lease expenses partially offset by a $0.2 million decrease in truck, trailer and equipment rentals
and leases. Facility leases increased due to the expansion of certain facilities to service increased volumes from the
acquisition of Towne.
Depreciation and Amortization
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Depreciation and amortization increased $0.1 million or 1.9%, to $5.5 million in the third quarter of 2016 from $5.4
million in the same period of 2015.  Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of LTL operating revenue
was 3.8% in the third quarter of 2016 compared to 3.6% in the same period of 2015.  The increase was due to the
purchase of trailers during the third quarter of 2016.
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Insurance and Claims
LTL insurance and claims expense increased $1.3 million, or 50.0%, to $3.9 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $2.6 million for the same period of 2015.  Insurance and claims was 2.7% of operating
revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 1.7% for the same period of 2015. The increase
was partly attributable to a $0.5 million increase in reserves for prior period vehicle accidents and associated loss
development factors. The remaining increase was attributable to higher insurance premiums associated with our
current year insurance plan renewals.
Fuel Expense

LTL fuel expense decreased $0.2 million, or 20.0%, to $0.8 million for the third quarter of 2016 from $1.0 million in
the same period of 2015.  Fuel expenses were 0.6% of LTL operating revenue in the third quarter of 2016 compared to
0.7% in the third quarter of 2015.  LTL fuel expenses decreased due to a decline in year-over-year fuel prices.
Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses increased $1.2 million, or 9.4%, to $14.0 million during the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $12.8 million in the same period of 2015.  Other operating expenses were 9.7% of LTL
operating revenue in the third quarter of 2016 compared to 8.6% in the same period of 2015. The increase in total
dollars and as percentage of revenue was the result of increases in sales promotions for a customer appreciation event
during the third quarter of 2016, vehicle maintenance reserves and higher costs, such as tolls, associated with our
increased utilization of owner operators.
Income from Operations
Income from operations decreased by $0.6 million, or 2.8%, to $21.0 million for the third quarter of 2016 compared
with $21.6 million for the same period in 2015.  Income from operations as a percentage of LTL operating revenue
was 14.6% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 14.5% in the same period of 2015. The
slight improvement in income from operations as a percentage of revenue was attributable to prior year targeted rate
increases, the February 2016 change to our dim-factor standard and further operating efficiencies. The decline in
income from operations in total dollars was the result of the decline in revenue and higher other operating expenses
partially offset by prior year targeted rate increases, change to our dim-factor standard and other operating
efficiencies.
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Expedited Truckload Services - Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Three Months Ended
September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Expedited Truckload Services segment for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):
Expedited Truckload Services Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $42.2 100.0 % $ 38.5 100.0 % $ 3.7 9.6  %

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 29.7 70.4 25.5 66.2 4.2 16.5
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 4.9 11.6 4.7 12.2 0.2 4.3
Operating leases 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.5 (0.1 ) (50.0)
Depreciation and amortization 1.5 3.6 1.6 4.2 (0.1 ) (6.3 )
Insurance and claims 1.1 2.6 0.8 2.1 0.3 37.5
Fuel expense 0.7 1.7 0.8 2.1 (0.1 ) (12.5)
Other operating expenses 2.2 5.2 1.7 4.4 0.5 29.4
Total operating expenses 40.2 95.3 35.3 91.7 4.9 13.9
Income from operations $2.0 4.7 % $ 3.2 8.3 % $ (1.2 ) (37.5)%

Expedited Truckload Services Operating
Statistics

Three months ended
September
30,

September
30, Percent

2016 2015 Change

    Company driver 1 1,761 1,795 (1.9 )%
    Owner operator 1 13,12510,614 23.7
    Third party 1 8,339 6,967 19.7
Total Miles 23,22519,376 19.9

Revenue per mile $1.78 $ 1.92 (7.3 )

Cost per mile $1.37 $ 1.40 (2.1 )%

¹ - In thousands

Revenues

Edgar Filing: FORWARD AIR CORP - Form 10-Q

50



Expedited Truckload Services (TLX) revenue, which is legacy Forward Air truckload services and our pharmaceutical
services, increased $3.7 million, or 9.6%, to $42.2 million in the third quarter of 2016 from $38.5 million in the third
quarter of 2015.  TLX revenue increased due to a 19.9% increase in overall miles and new business wins in our legacy
truckload services. TLX had a 7.3% decrease in average revenue per mile on a shift in business mix that moved away
from revenue requiring use of more
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expensive third party transportation providers. Revenue per mile also declined due to the decrease in pharmaceutical
revenue which historically has a higher revenue per mile than traditional truckload business.
Purchased Transportation

Purchased transportation costs for our TLX revenue increased $4.2 million, or 16.5%, to $29.7 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 from $25.5 million for the same period in 2015. For the three months ended
September 30, 2016, TLX purchased transportation costs represented 70.4% of TLX revenue compared to 66.2% for
the same period in 2015.  The increase in TLX purchased transportation was attributable to a 22.1% increase in
non-Company miles driven during the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015.
The increase in non-Company miles was slightly offset by a 2.7% decrease in cost per mile during the three months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period of 2015. The increase in TLX non-Company miles driven
was attributable to the business wins discussed above. The decrease in cost per mile was due to TLX's ability to utilize
owner operators to cover the additional miles instead of more costly third party transportation providers. The increase
in TLX purchased transportation as a percentage of revenue was attributable to TLX cost per mile not decreasing in
proportion with the previously discussed decline in TLX revenue per mile.
Salaries, Wages, and Benefits

Salaries, wages and employee benefits of TLX increased by $0.2 million, or 4.3%, to $4.9 million in the third quarter
of 2016 from $4.7 million in the same period of 2015.  Salaries, wages and employee benefits were 11.6% of TLX’s
operating revenue in the third quarter of 2016 compared to 12.2% for the same period of 2015.  The decrease in
salaries, wages and employee benefits as a percentage of revenue was mostly attributable to a 0.4% decrease in share
based compensation as a percent of revenue and a 0.2% decrease in workers' compensation as a percent of revenue.
Operating Leases
Operating leases decreased $0.1 million, or 50.0%, to $0.1 million in the third quarter of 2016 from $0.2 million for
the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 0.2% of TLX operating revenue for the third quarter of September 30,
2016 compared to 0.5% for the same period in 2015. The decrease in expense is due to reduced trailer rentals.
Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $0.1 million, or 6.3%, to $1.5 million in the third quarter of 2016 from $1.6
million in the same period of 2015.  Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of TLX operating revenue
was 3.6% in the third quarter of 2016 compared to 4.2% in the same period of 2015.  The decrease was due to the
impairment of TQI intangible assets in the second quarter of 2016 leading to a lower amortization expense of acquired
customer relationships and non-compete agreements.
Insurance and Claims

TLX insurance and claims expense increased $0.3 million, or 37.5%, to $1.1 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $0.8 million for the same period of 2015.  Insurance and claims were 2.6% of operating
revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 2.1% in the same period of 2015. The increase
was due to higher vehicle insurance premiums. The higher insurance premiums were driven by current year insurance
renewals.
Fuel Expense

TLX fuel expense decreased $0.1 million, or 12.5%, to $0.7 million for the third quarter of 2016 from $0.8 million for
the same period of 2015.  Fuel expense as a percentage of TLX operating revenue was 1.7% in the third quarter of
2016 compared to 2.1% in the same period of 2015. The decrease as a percentage of revenue was mostly attributable
to a decline in year-over-year fuel prices and the decrease in Company driver miles.
Other Operating Expenses
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Other operating expenses increased $0.5 million, or 29.4%, to $2.2 million during the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $1.7 million in the same period of 2015.  Other operating expenses were 5.2% of TLX
operating revenue in the third quarter of 2016 compared to 4.4% in the same period of 2015.  The increase as a
percentage of revenue was partly due to $0.1 million in legal fees for an ongoing legal issue. The remaining increase
was attributable to higher equipment repairs and costs associated with higher owner operator utilization.
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Income from Operations
Income from operations decreased by $1.2 million, or 37.5%, to $2.0 million during the third quarter of 2016
compared with $3.2 million of income from operations for the same period in 2015.  The deterioration in income from
operations was primarily due to the revenue decline of the pharmaceutical business and TLX revenue per mile
declining at a faster pace than our cost per mile.
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Pool Distribution - Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Pool Distribution segment for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):

Pool Distribution Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $36.4 100.0 % $ 32.1 100.0 % $ 4.3 13.4  %

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 10.1 27.7 8.8 27.4 1.3 14.8
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 14.4 39.6 12.2 38.0 2.2 18.0
Operating leases 3.3 9.1 2.6 8.1 0.7 26.9
Depreciation and amortization 1.4 3.8 1.4 4.4 — —
Insurance and claims 1.0 2.7 0.9 2.8 0.1 11.1
Fuel expense 1.2 3.3 1.3 4.0 (0.1 ) (7.7 )
Other operating expenses 4.9 13.5 4.4 13.7 0.5 11.4
Total operating expenses 36.3 99.7 31.6 98.4 4.7 14.9
Income from operations $0.1 0.3 % $ 0.5 1.6 % $ (0.4 ) (80.0)%

Revenues

Pool Distribution (Pool) operating revenue increased $4.3 million, or 13.4%, to $36.4 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 from $32.1 million for the same period in 2015.  The increase was attributable to new
customer business wins, current year rate increases and increased volume from previously existing customers. The
increase in revenue was partly offset by the closing of a facility in early second quarter of 2016.
Purchased Transportation

Pool purchased transportation increased $1.3 million, or 14.8%, to $10.1 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to $8.8 million for the same period of 2015.  Pool purchased transportation as a
percentage of revenue was 27.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 27.4% for the same
period of 2015.  The slight deterioration in Pool purchased transportation as a percentage of revenue was attributable
to an increased utilization of owner operators and third party carriers over Company drivers. The deterioration was
furthered by decreased agent station revenue, which has handling costs that would not contribute to purchased
transportation.
Salaries, Wages, and Benefits

Pool salaries, wages and employee benefits increased $2.2 million, or 18.0%, to $14.4 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to $12.2 million for the same period of 2015.  As a percentage of Pool operating
revenue, salaries, wages and benefits decreased to 39.6% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to
38.0% for the same period in 2015.   The increase in salaries, wages and benefits as a percentage of revenue was the
result of a 2.5% increase as a percentage of revenue in dock pay. This was partly offset by decreases as a percentage
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of revenue in administrative salaries, wages and benefits and workers' compensation costs.
Operating Leases

Operating leases increased $0.7 million, or 26.9%, to $3.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016
from $2.6 million for the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 9.1% of Pool operating revenue for the three
months ended
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September 30, 2016 compared with 8.1% in the same period of 2015.  Operating leases increased due to an additional
$0.6 million in facility rent expense as certain terminals moved to larger facilities to handle additional business wins.
The remaining $0.1 million was due to additional truck rentals used to provide capacity for additional business wins
throughout the network.
Depreciation and Amortization

Pool depreciation and amortization was $1.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015. Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of Pool operating revenue was 3.8% in the third quarter
of 2016 compared to 4.4% in the same period of 2015. Depreciation and amortization decreased as a percentage of
revenue as Pool utilized more truck rentals and purchased transportation instead of Company-owned equipment to
provide the capacity for the increase in revenue.
Insurance and Claims

Pool insurance and claims expense increased $0.1 million, or 11.1%, to $1.0 million for the the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $0.9 million for the same period of 2015.  Insurance and claims were 2.7% of operating
revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 2.8% in the same period of 2015. The increase
was due to a $0.2 million increase in vehicle accident damage repairs partly offset by a $0.1 million decrease in cargo
claims.
Fuel Expense

Pool fuel expense decreased $0.1 million, or 7.7%, to $1.2 million for the third quarter of 2016 from $1.3 million in
the same period of 2015.  Fuel expenses were 3.3% of Pool operating revenue in the third quarter of 2016 compared to
4.0% in the third quarter of 2015.  Pool fuel expenses decreased due to a decline in year-over-year fuel prices and
increased utilization of owner-operators and purchased transportation. These decreases were partially offset by the
impact of the higher revenue volumes.
Other Operating Expenses

Pool other operating expenses increased $0.5 million, or 11.4%, to $4.9 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to $4.4 million for the same period of 2015.  Pool other operating expenses for the third
quarter of 2016 were 13.5% compared to 13.7% for the same period of 2015.  The decrease in percentage of revenue
is due to the decrease in agent station handling costs. This decrease was partly offset by increases in equipment
maintenance and terminal expenses.
Income from Operations

Income from operations decreased to $0.1 million for the third quarter of 2016 compared with $0.5 million for the
same period in 2015.  Income from operations as a percentage of Pool operating revenue was 0.3% for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 1.6% for the same period of 2015.  The decline in Pool operating
results was primarily the result of increased facility and dock handling costs associated with the on-boarding of new
business. These increases in expenses were partly offset by the increased revenue from new business wins and current
year rate increases.
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Intermodal - Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Intermodal segment for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):

Intermodal Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $27.6 100.0 % $ 28.9 100.0 % $ (1.3 ) (4.5 )%

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 9.7 35.1 9.4 32.5 0.3 3.2
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 6.6 23.9 6.2 21.5 0.4 6.5
Operating leases 3.3 12.0 3.3 11.4 — —
Depreciation and amortization 1.0 3.6 1.0 3.5 — —
Insurance and claims 0.8 2.9 0.7 2.4 0.1 14.3
Fuel expense 0.7 2.5 0.7 2.4 — —
Other operating expenses 2.5 9.1 4.1 14.2 (1.6 ) (39.0)
Total operating expenses 24.6 89.1 25.4 87.9 (0.8 ) (3.1 )
Income from operations $3.0 10.9 % $ 3.5 12.1 % $ (0.5 ) (14.3)%

Revenues

Intermodal operating revenue decreased $1.3 million, or 4.5%, to $27.6 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $28.9 million for the same period in 2015.  The decreases in operating revenue were
primarily attributable to the negative impact of reduced fuel surcharges, decreased rental and storage revenues and
suppressed market conditions. These decreases were partly alleviated by volumes associated with the acquisition of
Ace and Triumph.

Purchased Transportation

Intermodal purchased transportation increased $0.3 million, or 3.2%, to $9.7 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $9.4 million for the same period in 2015.  Intermodal purchased transportation as a
percentage of revenue was 35.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 32.5% for the three
months ended September 30, 2015.  The increase in Intermodal purchased transportation as a percentage of revenue
was attributable to higher utilization of owner-operators as opposed to Company-employed drivers in select markets.
The increase as a percentage of revenue was also due to a change in business mix as revenues, such as rental and
storage revenues, that do not utilize purchased transportation decreased in the third quarter of 2016 compared to the
same period of 2015.

Salaries, Wages, and Benefits
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Intermodal salaries, wages and employee benefits increased $0.4 million, or 6.5%, to $6.6 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to $6.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015.  As a percentage
of Intermodal operating revenue, salaries, wages and benefits increased to 23.9% for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to 21.5% for the same period in 2015. The deterioration in salaries, wages and
employee benefits as a percentage of revenue is attributable to increased workers' compensation and health insurance
costs. These increases were partially offset by less reliance on Company-employed drivers.

Operating Leases

Operating leases were $3.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.  Operating leases were
12.0% of Intermodal operating revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 11.4% in the
same period of
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2015.  Operating leases increased as a percentage of revenue due to the decrease in revenue with no reduction in fixed
costs, such as facility rent. The fixed cost impact was partly tempered by reduced usage of truck rentals as Intermodal
increased utilization of owner-operators.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization was $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015. Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of Intermodal operating revenue was 3.6% in the third
quarter of 2016 compared to 3.5% in the same period of 2015. Depreciation and amortization increased as a
percentage of revenue as Intermodal lost leverage on its fixed asset costs due to the decrease in revenue.

Insurance and Claims

Intermodal insurance and claims expense increased $0.1 million, or 14.3%, to $0.8 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 from $0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015.   Intermodal insurance and
claims were 2.9% of operating revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 2.4% for the
same period in 2015. The increase in Intermodal insurance and claims was attributable to a $0.1 million increase in
insurance premiums. The higher insurance premiums were driven by current year insurance renewals.

Other Operating Expenses

Intermodal other operating expenses decreased $1.6 million, or 39.0%, to $2.5 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to $4.1 million for the same period of 2015.  Intermodal other operating expenses for
the third quarter of 2016 were 9.1% compared to 14.2% for the same period of 2015.  The decrease in Intermodal
other operating expenses was due mostly to a $1.5 million decline in container related rental and storage charges. The
remaining decrease was due to declining terminal expenses and other variable costs corresponding with the decrease
in revenue.

Income from Operations

Intermodal’s income from operations decreased by $0.5 million, or 14.3%, to $3.0 million for the third quarter of 2016
compared with $3.5 million for the same period in 2015.  Income from operations as a percentage of Intermodal
operating revenue was 10.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 12.1% in the same period
of 2015.  The deterioration in operating income was primarily attributable to the negative impact on revenue of
decreased fuel surcharges and suppressed market conditions. The deterioration was partly eased by the operating
income contributed by the Ace and Triumph acquisitions.
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Other Operations

Other operating activity improved from a $4.2 million loss during the three months ended September 30, 2015 to a
$1.4 million operating loss during the three months ended September 30, 2016. The year-over-year improvement in
other operations and corporate activities was largely due to $3.9 million of Towne acquisition and integration costs
included in results for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and no similar costs being included in the third
quarter of 2016. The prior year acquisition and integration costs included $0.1 million of severance obligations and
$2.6 million in reserves for remaining net payments on duplicate facilities vacated during the three months ended
September 30, 2015. The expenses associated with the severance obligations and vacated, duplicate facility costs were
recognized in the salaries, wages and benefits and operating lease line items, respectively. During the third quarter of
2015, we also incurred expense of $1.2 million for various other integration and transaction related costs which are
largely included in other operating expenses. The $1.4 million in operating loss included in other operations and
corporate activities for the three months ended September 30, 2016, was primarily for a $0.6 million increase to
reserves for remaining net payments on duplicate facilities vacated following the Towne acquisition, as several
facilities have yet to be sub-leased. The remaining $0.8 million is due to increased claims activity during 2016
resulting in increases to our loss development factors for workers' compensation and vehicle claims. Other operating
activity for the three months ended September 30, 2015 included approximately $0.3 million of additional expenses
associated with increased loss development factors. These loss development adjustments were kept at the corporate
level and not passed through to our segments.
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Results from Operations
The following table sets forth our consolidated historical financial data for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
and 2015 (in millions):

Nine months ended September 30

2016 2015 Change Percent
Change

Operating revenue:
Expedited LTL $423.4 $427.3 $(3.9 ) (0.9 )%
Expedited Truckload 120.3 112.4 7.9 7.0
Pool Distribution 101.2 87.0 14.2 16.3
Intermodal 76.4 79.4 (3.0 ) (3.8 )
Eliminations and other operations (3.5 ) (3.4 ) (0.1 ) 2.9
Operating revenue 717.8 702.7 15.1 2.1
Operating expenses:
   Purchased transportation 300.8 301.3 (0.5 ) (0.2 )
   Salaries, wages, and employee benefits 175.9 174.8 1.1 0.6
   Operating leases 44.7 51.2 (6.5 ) (12.7 )
   Depreciation and amortization 28.4 27.6 0.8 2.9
   Insurance and claims 19.2 16.5 2.7 16.4
   Fuel expense 9.4 12.1 (2.7 ) (22.3 )
   Other operating expenses 65.2 66.5 (1.3 ) (2.0 )
   Impairment of goodwill, intangibles and other assets 42.4 — 42.4 100.0
      Total operating expenses 686.0 650.0 36.0 5.5
Income (loss) from operations:
Expedited LTL 63.0 57.3 5.7 9.9
Expedited Truckload (36.7 ) 10.5 (47.2 )  NM
Pool Distribution (0.2 ) 0.8 (1.0 ) (125.0)
Intermodal 8.2 8.8 (0.6 ) (6.8 )
Other operations (2.5 ) (24.7 ) 22.2 (89.9 )
Income from operations 31.8 52.7 (20.9 ) (39.7 )
Other expense:
   Interest expense (1.2 ) (1.5 ) 0.3 (20.0 )
   Other, net (0.2 ) (0.1 ) (0.1 ) 100.0
      Total other expense (1.4 ) (1.6 ) 0.2 (12.5 )
Income before income taxes 30.4 51.1 (20.7 ) (40.5 )
Income taxes 15.4 18.8 (3.4 ) (18.1 )
Net income $15.0 $32.3 $(17.3) (53.6 )%
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Expedited LTL - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Expedited LTL segment for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):
Expedited LTL Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $423.4 100.0 % $ 427.3 100.0 % $ (3.9 ) (0.9 )%

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 165.5 39.1 180.6 42.3 (15.1 ) (8.4 )
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 102.6 24.2 105.4 24.7 (2.8 ) (2.7 )
Operating leases 25.5 6.0 22.7 5.3 2.8 12.3
Depreciation and amortization 16.3 3.8 15.7 3.7 0.6 3.8
Insurance and claims 10.1 2.4 7.8 1.8 2.3 29.5
Fuel expense 2.4 0.6 3.1 0.7 (0.7 ) (22.6)
Other operating expenses 38.0 9.0 34.7 8.1 3.3 9.5
Total operating expenses 360.4 85.1 370.0 86.6 (9.6 ) (2.6 )
Income from operations $63.0 14.9 % $ 57.3 13.4 % $ 5.7 9.9  %

Expedited LTL Operating Statistics

Nine months ended
September
30,

September
30, Percent

2016 2015 Change

Operating ratio 85.1 % 86.6 % (1.7 )%

Business days 192.0 191.0 0.5
Business weeks 38.4 38.2 0.5

Expedited LTL:
Tonnage
    Total pounds ¹ 1,758,689 1,787,246 (1.6 )
    Average weekly pounds ¹ 45,799 46,787 (2.1 )

Linehaul shipments
    Total linehaul 2,751,019 2,749,267 0.1
    Average weekly 71,641 71,970 (0.5 )

Forward Air Complete shipments 579,973 649,431 (10.7)
As a percentage of linehaul shipments 21.1 % 23.6 % (10.6)
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Average linehaul shipment size 639 650 (1.7 )

Revenue per pound 2
    Linehaul yield $17.72 $ 17.12 2.8
    Fuel surcharge impact 0.93 1.20 (1.3 )
    Forward Air Complete impact 3.29 3.38 (0.4 )
Total Expedited LTL yield $21.94 $ 21.70 1.1  %

¹ - In thousands
2 - In dollars per hundred pound; percentage change is expressed as a
percent of total yield.
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Revenues
Expedited LTL (LTL), which is our legacy airport-to-airport service, had operating revenue decrease $3.9 million, or
0.9%, to $423.4 million from $427.3 million, accounting for 59.0% of consolidated operating revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 60.8% for the same period in 2015. The decrease in revenue is mostly
the result of a $8.9 million decrease in Forward Air Complete ("Complete") pick-up and delivery revenue, net fuel
surcharge revenue and other terminal based revenues, partly offset by a $5.0 million increase in linehaul revenue.  The
increase in linehaul revenue is attributable to the linehaul yield changes noted in the preceding table. The increase in
average base revenue per pound was attributable to targeted rate increases implemented in the fourth quarter of 2015.
Tonnage was slightly down primarily due to the attrition of acquired, poorly-priced Towne revenue since the third
quarter of 2015 and a sluggish economic environment mostly offset by the tonnage increases attributable to a February
2016 change to our dim-factor standard. This change in dim-factor standard allows us to capture more billable tonnage
on certain shipments.
Complete revenue decreased $2.4 million, or 3.9%, during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to
the same period of 2015.  The decrease in Complete revenue was attributable to declines in Complete shipment counts
and a 10.6% decrease in the attachment rate of Complete activity to linehaul shipments. These declines in Complete
activity are in conjunction with the attrition of Towne revenue discussed above. Compared to the same period in 2015,
net fuel surcharge revenue decreased $5.1 million largely due to the decline in fuel prices.
Other terminal based revenues, which includes warehousing services and terminal handling, decreased $1.4 million, or
3.5%, to $37.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from $38.9 million in the same period of 2015.
The decrease in other terminal revenue was mainly attributable to attrition of acquired Towne activity.
Purchased Transportation
LTL’s purchased transportation decreased by $15.1 million, or 8.4%, to $165.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $180.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015. As a percentage of segment
operating revenue, LTL purchased transportation was 39.1% during the nine months ended September 30, 2016
compared to 42.3% for the same period in 2015. The decrease in total dollars and as a percentage of revenue is due to
a 5.8% decrease in LTL cost per mile, improved revenue per mile due to yield and dim-factor changes discussed
previously and improved network efficiency. The LTL cost per mile decrease and improvement in network
efficiencies were largely the result of higher utilization of owner operators instead of more costly third party
transportation providers.
Salaries, Wages, and Benefits
Salaries, wages and employee benefits of LTL decreased by $2.8 million, or 2.7%, to $102.6 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 from $105.4 million in the same period of 2015.  Salaries, wages and employee
benefits were 24.2% of LTL’s operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 24.7%
for the same period of 2015.  The decrease in salaries, wages and employee benefits in total dollars was primarily
attributable to a $5.4 million, or 5.1%, decrease in direct LTL terminal and management salaries, wages and employee
benefits. The decrease in terminal expense is primarily due to a decrease in employee headcount and employee
incentives, which accounted for a $8.8 million decrease. This decrease was partly offset by a $3.4 million increase in
higher workers' compensation and health insurance costs and increased share based compensation.
The decrease was also partly offset by a $2.6 million increase in corporate support and administrative salaries, wages
and employee benefits. This increase was attributable to higher workers' compensation and health insurance costs and
increased share based compensation.
Operating Leases
Operating leases increased $2.8 million, or 12.3%, to $25.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
from $22.7 million for the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 6.0% of LTL operating revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 5.3% for the same period in 2015. The increase in cost is due to a $2.1
million increase in facility lease expenses resulting from a full nine months of Towne activity and $0.7 million of
additional truck, trailer and equipment rentals and leases.
Depreciation and Amortization
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Depreciation and amortization increased $0.6 million, or 3.8%, to $16.3 million in the nine months ended September
30, 2016 from $15.7 million in the same period of 2015.  Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of
LTL operating revenue was 3.8% in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 3.7% in the same period
of 2015.  The increase was primarily the result of trailers purchased during 2016, added trailers from the Towne
acquisition and information technology upgrades.
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Insurance and Claims
LTL insurance and claims expense increased $2.3 million, or 29.5%, to $10.1 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $7.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.  Insurance and claims was
2.4% of operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 1.8% for the same period of
2015. The increase was due to a $1.6 million increase in insurance premiums, a $0.5 million increase in reserves for
specific vehicle claims and a $0.6 million increase in cargo claims. These increases were partly offset by a $0.4
million decrease in claims related legal and professional fees.
Fuel Expense

LTL fuel expense decreased $0.7 million, or 22.6%, to $2.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
from $3.1 million in the same period of 2015.  Fuel expenses were 0.6% of LTL operating revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 0.7% in the same period of 2015.  LTL fuel expenses decreased due to
a decline in year-over-year fuel prices.
Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses increased $3.3 million, or 9.5%, to $38.0 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $34.7 million in the same period of 2015.  Other operating expenses were 9.0% of LTL
operating revenue in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 8.1% in the same period of 2015. The
increase in total dollars and as percentage of revenue was the result of increases in sales promotions for a customer
appreciation event during the third quarter of 2016, vehicle maintenance reserves and increased costs, such as tolls,
associated with our increased utilization of owner operator. Additional increases were incurred for the redesign of a
new logo and brand image during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
Income from Operations
Income from operations increased by $5.7 million, or 9.9%, to $63.0 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 compared with $57.3 million for the same period in 2015.  Income from operations as a percentage of LTL
operating revenue was 14.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 13.4% in the same period
of 2015. The improvement in income from operations was due to dim-factor standard changes implemented in
February 2016, rate increases initiated during the fourth quarters of 2015 and improved efficiency in purchased
transportation and dock operations. These improvements were partially offset by increased insurance premiums and
facility and other operating expenses.
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Expedited Truckload Services - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Expedited Truckload Services segment for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):
Expedited Truckload Services Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $120.3 100.0 % $ 112.4 100.0 % $7.9 7.0  %

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 83.7 69.6 73.5 65.4 10.2 13.9
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 14.4 12.0 13.8 12.3 0.6 4.3
Operating leases 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.3 (0.1 ) (25.0 )
Depreciation and amortization 4.9 4.1 4.5 4.0 0.4 8.9
Insurance and claims 2.9 2.4 2.2 2.0 0.7 31.8
Fuel expense 1.9 1.6 2.6 2.3 (0.7 ) (26.9 )
Other operating expenses 6.5 5.4 4.9 4.4 1.6 32.7
Impairment of goodwill, intangibles and other assets 42.4 35.2 — — 42.4 100.0
Total operating expenses 157.0 130.5 101.9 90.7 55.1 54.1
(Loss) income from operations $(36.7 ) (30.5 )% $ 10.5 9.3 % $(47.2) (449.5)%

Expedited Truckload Services Operating
Statistics

Nine months ended
September
30,

September
30, Percent

2016 2015 Change

    Company driver 1 5,074 5,391 (5.9 )%
    Owner operator 1 37,74025,630 47.2
    Third party 1 22,90422,082 3.7
Total Miles 65,71853,103 23.8

Revenue per mile $1.78 $ 2.01 (11.4)

Cost per mile $1.36 $ 1.45 (6.2 )%

¹ - In thousands

Revenues
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TLX revenue, which is legacy Forward Air truckload services and our pharmaceutical services, increased $7.9
million, or 7.0%, to $120.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from $112.4 million in the same
period of 2015.  The increase in TLX revenue was attributable to new business wins in our legacy truckload services
partially offset by a decline in pharmaceutical revenue. TLX had an 11.4% decrease in average revenue per mile and a
23.8% increase in miles driven to support revenue. TLX's revenue per mile decreased on a shift in business mix that
moved away from revenue requiring use of more expensive third party transportation providers. Revenue per mile also
declined due to the decrease in pharmaceutical revenue which historically has a higher revenue per mile than
traditional truckload business.
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Purchased Transportation

Purchased transportation costs for our TLX revenue increased $10.2 million, or 13.9%, to $83.7 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 from $73.5 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2015. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2016, TLX purchased transportation costs represented 69.6% of TLX revenue compared to
65.4% for the same period in 2015.  The increase in TLX purchased transportation was attributable to a 27.1%
increase in non-Company miles driven during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same
period in 2015. The increase in miles was slightly offset by a 7.4% decrease in non-Company cost per mile during the
nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period of 2015. The increase in TLX miles driven was
attributable to new business wins discussed above. The decrease in cost per mile was due to TLX's ability to utilize
owner operators to cover the additional miles instead of more costly third party transportation providers. The increase
in TLX purchased transportation as a percentage of revenue was attributable to TLX cost per mile not decreasing in
proportion with the decline in TLX revenue per mile.
Salaries, Wages, and Benefits

Salaries, wages and employee benefits of TLX increased by $0.6 million, or 4.3%, to $14.4 million in the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 from $13.8 million in the same period of 2015.  Salaries, wages and employee benefits
were 12.0% of TLX’s operating revenue in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 12.3% for the
same period of 2015.  The decrease in salaries, wages and employee benefits as a percentage of revenue was mostly
attributable to a decrease in share based compensation as a percent of revenue.
Operating Leases
Operating leases decreased $0.1 million, or 25.0%, to $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
from $0.4 million for the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 0.2% of LTL operating revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 0.3% for the same period in 2015. The decrease in expense is due to
reduced trailer rentals.
Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $0.4 million, or 8.9%, to $4.9 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $4.5 million in the same period of 2015.  Depreciation and amortization expense as a
percentage of TLX operating revenue was 4.1% in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 4.0% in
the same period of 2015.  The increase was due to trailers purchased during 2016 and tractors purchased after the third
quarter of 2015. These increases were partly offset by the impairment of TQI intangible assets in the second quarter of
2016 leading to a lower amortization expense of acquired customer relationships and non-compete agreements.
Insurance and Claims

TLX insurance and claims expense increased $0.7 million, or 31.8%, to $2.9 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $2.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.  Insurance and claims were
2.4% of operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 2.0% in the same period of
2015. The increase was due to higher vehicle insurance premiums and increased vehicle accident damage repairs. The
higher insurance premiums were driven by current year insurance renewals.
Fuel Expense

TLX fuel expense decreased $0.7 million, or 26.9%, to $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
from $2.6 million for the same period of 2015.  Fuel expense as a percentage of TLX operating revenue was 1.6% in
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 2.3% in the same period of 2015. The decrease as a
percentage of revenue was mostly attributable to a decline in year-over-year fuel prices and Company miles.
Other Operating Expenses
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Other operating expenses increased $1.6 million, or 32.7%, to $6.5 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $4.9 million in the same period of 2015.  Other operating expenses were 5.4% of TLX
operating revenue in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 4.4% in the same period of
2015.  Approximately $0.4 million of the increase was attributable to maintenance expenses and $0.2 million of the
increase was driven by operating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 including a gain on the sale
of equipment that did not occur in 2016. The remaining increase was due to $0.3 in legal expenses and $0.7 in
additional costs to handle the expanding TLX business mentioned above.

43

Edgar Filing: FORWARD AIR CORP - Form 10-Q

71



Table of Contents

Impairment of goodwill, intangibles and other assets
In conjunction with our policy to annually test goodwill for impairment as of June 30 we determined there were
indicators of potential impairment of goodwill and other long lived assets assigned to the TQI acquisition. As a result,
we performed fair value calculations as of June 30, 2016. Based on these calculations we recorded $42.4 million in
total impairment charges related to TQI’s goodwill and other long lived assets.
Results from Operations
Results from operations decreased by $47.2 million to a $36.7 million loss from operations for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 compared with $10.5 million in income from operations for the same period in 2015.  Excluding
the impairment charges, the deterioration in income from operations was due to the revenue decline of the
pharmaceutical business and TLX revenue per mile declining at a faster pace than our cost per mile.

44

Edgar Filing: FORWARD AIR CORP - Form 10-Q

72



Table of Contents

Pool Distribution - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Pool Distribution segment for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):

Pool Distribution Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $101.2 100.0 % $ 87.0 100.0 % $14.2 16.3  %

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 27.6 27.3 23.8 27.4 3.8 16.0
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 39.0 38.5 32.8 37.7 6.2 18.9
Operating leases 9.2 9.1 6.7 7.7 2.5 37.3
Depreciation and amortization 4.4 4.3 4.5 5.2 (0.1 ) (2.2 )
Insurance and claims 3.2 3.2 2.7 3.1 0.5 18.5
Fuel expense 3.3 3.3 3.9 4.5 (0.6 ) (15.4 )
Other operating expenses 14.7 14.5 11.8 13.5 2.9 24.6
Total operating expenses 101.4 100.2 86.2 99.1 15.2 17.6
(Loss) income from operations $(0.2 ) (0.2 )% $ 0.8 0.9 % $ (1.0 ) (125.0)%

Revenues

Pool Distribution (Pool) operating revenue increased $14.2 million, or 16.3%, to $101.2 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 from $87.0 million for the same period in 2015.  The increase was attributable to new
customer business wins, current year rate increases and increased volume from previously existing customers.
Purchased Transportation

Pool purchased transportation increased $3.8 million, or 16.0%, to $27.6 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to $23.8 million for the same period of 2015.  Pool purchased transportation as a
percentage of revenue was 27.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 27.4% for the same
period of 2015.  The slight improvement in Pool purchased transportation as a percentage of revenue was attributable
to rate increases initiated during the first quarter of 2016 which improved our revenue per mile and our purchased
transportation as a percentage of revenue. The decrease was partly offset by decreased agent station revenue, which
has handling costs that would not contribute to purchased transportation.
Salaries, Wages, and Benefits

Pool salaries, wages and employee benefits increased $6.2 million, or 18.9%, to $39.0 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to $32.8 million for the same period of 2015.  As a percentage of Pool operating
revenue, salaries, wages and benefits increased to 38.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to
37.7% for the same period in 2015.   The increase in salaries, wages and benefits as a percentage of revenue was the
result of a 1.4% increase as a percentage of revenue in dock pay. This was partly offset by decreases as a percentage
of revenue in administrative salaries, wages and benefits and workers' compensation.
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Operating Leases

Operating leases increased $2.5 million, or 37.3%, to $9.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
from $6.7 million for the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 9.1% of Pool operating revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 7.7% in the same period of 2015.  Operating leases increased due to
$1.9 million of additional facility rent
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expense as certain terminals moved to larger facilities to handle additional business wins. The remaining $0.6 million
increase is attributable to additional truck rentals for additional business wins throughout the network.
Depreciation and Amortization

Pool depreciation and amortization decreased $0.1 million, or 2.2%, to $4.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $4.5 million for the same period in 2015. Depreciation and amortization expense as a
percentage of Pool operating revenue was 4.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 5.2% in
the same period of 2015. Depreciation and amortization decreased as a percentage of revenue as Pool utilized more
truck rentals and owner operators and purchased transportation instead of Company-owned equipment to provide the
capacity for the increase in revenue.
Insurance and Claims

Pool insurance and claims expense increased $0.5 million, or 18.5%, to $3.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $2.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.  Insurance and claims were
3.2% of operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 3.1% in the same period of
2015. The increase was due to higher vehicle insurance premiums and increased vehicle accident damage repairs.
These increases were slightly offset by a $0.1 million decrease in cargo claims and claims related fees. The higher
insurance premiums were driven by current year insurance renewals.
Fuel Expense

Pool fuel expense decreased $0.6 million, or 15.4%, to $3.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
from $3.9 million in the same period of 2015.  Fuel expenses were 3.3% of Pool operating revenue in the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to 4.5% in the same period of 2015.  Pool fuel expenses decreased due to a
decline in year-over-year fuel prices and increased utilization of purchased transportation. These decreases were
partially offset by the impact of the higher revenue volumes.
Other Operating Expenses

Pool other operating expenses increased $2.9 million, or 24.6%, to $14.7 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to $11.8 million for the same period of 2015.  Pool other operating expenses for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016 were 14.5% compared to 13.5% for the same period of 2015.  As a percentage
of revenue the increase was attributable to a 0.5% increase in dock related costs and 0.3% in legal fees. The dock
related costs increase was mainly attributable to the start up of new business. The legal fees are primarily related to
Pool's Department of Transportation safety audit.
Results from Operations
Results from operations decreased by $1.0 million to a $0.2 million loss from operations for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 compared with $0.8 million of income from operations for the same period in 2015.  Loss from
operations as a percentage of Pool operating revenue was 0.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
compared to income from operations as a percentage of revenue of 0.9% in the same period of 2015.  The decline in
Pool operating results was primarily the result of increased facility and dock handling costs for the on-boarding of
new business. These increases in expenses were partly negated by the increased revenue from new business wins and
rate increases.
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Intermodal - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 

The following table sets forth our historical financial data of the Intermodal segment for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):

Intermodal Segment Information
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
September
30,

Percent
of

September
30,

Percent
of Percent

2016 Revenue 2015 Revenue Change Change
Operating revenue $76.4 100.0 % $ 79.4 100.0 % $ (3.0 ) (3.8 )%

Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation 26.5 34.7 25.4 32.0 1.1 4.3
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 18.6 24.3 18.3 23.0 0.3 1.6
Operating leases 9.2 12.0 8.7 11.0 0.5 5.7
Depreciation and amortization 2.8 3.7 2.9 3.7 (0.1 ) (3.4 )
Insurance and claims 2.2 2.9 2.0 2.5 0.2 10.0
Fuel expense 1.8 2.4 2.5 3.1 (0.7 ) (28.0)
Other operating expenses 7.1 9.3 10.8 13.6 (3.7 ) (34.3)
Total operating expenses 68.2 89.3 70.6 88.9 (2.4 ) (3.4 )
Income from operations $8.2 10.7 % $ 8.8 11.1 % $ (0.6 ) (6.8 )%

Revenues

Intermodal operating revenue decreased $3.0 million, or 3.8%, to $76.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $79.4 million for the same period in 2015.   The decrease in operating revenue was
primarily attributable to the negative impact of reduced fuel surcharges, decreased rental and storage revenues and
suppressed market conditions. The decrease was partially alleviated by volumes associated with the acquisition of Ace
and Triumph.

Purchased Transportation

Intermodal purchased transportation increased $1.1 million, or 4.3%, to $26.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $25.4 million for the same period in 2015.  Intermodal purchased transportation as a
percentage of revenue was 34.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 32.0% for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015.  The increase in Intermodal purchased transportation as a percentage of revenue
was attributable to higher utilization of owner-operators as opposed to Company-employed drivers in select markets.
The increase as a percentage of revenue was also due to a change in business mix as revenues, such as rental and
storage revenues, that do not not utilize owner operators decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
compared to the same period of 2015.

Salaries, Wages, and Benefits
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Intermodal salaries, wages and employee benefits increased $0.3 million, or 1.6%, to $18.6 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared to $18.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.  As a
percentage of Intermodal operating revenue, salaries, wages and benefits increased to 24.3% for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 compared to 23.0% for the same period in 2015.   The deterioration in salaries, wages and
employee benefits as a percentage of revenue is attributable to increased administrative staffing due to acquisition,
merit increases and increased workers' compensation and health insurance costs. These increases were partially offset
by less reliance on Company-employed drivers.
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Operating Leases

Operating leases increased $0.5 million, or 5.7%, to $9.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from
$8.7 million for the same period in 2015.  Operating leases were 12.0% of Intermodal operating revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 11.0% in the same period of 2015.  Operating leases increased due
to a $0.5 million increase in rent expense for additional facilities assumed with the acquisitions.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $0.1 million, or 3.4%, to $2.8 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $2.9 million for the same period in 2015. Depreciation and amortization expense as a
percentage of Intermodal operating revenue was 3.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.
Depreciation and amortization decreased in total dollars as certain intangible assets reached their useful life in the first
quarter of 2016.

Insurance and Claims

Intermodal insurance and claims expense increased $0.2 million, or 10.0%, to $2.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 from $2.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.   Intermodal insurance and
claims were 2.9% of operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with 2.5% for the
same period in 2015. The increase in Intermodal insurance and claims was attributable to higher insurance premiums.

Fuel Expense

Intermodal fuel expense decreased $0.7 million, or 28.0%, to $1.8 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 from $2.5 million in the same period of 2015.  Fuel expenses were 2.4% of Intermodal operating revenue for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 3.1% in the same period of 2015.  Intermodal fuel expenses
decreased primarily as a result of the year-over-year decline in fuel prices, declining revenue and increased utilization
of owner-operators.

Other Operating Expenses

Intermodal other operating expenses decreased $3.7 million, or 34.3%, to $7.1 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 compared to $10.8 million for the same period of 2015.  Intermodal other operating expenses for
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 were 9.3% compared to 13.6% for the same period of 2015.  The decrease
in Intermodal other operating expenses was due mostly to a $3.3 million decline in container related rental and storage
charges. The remaining decrease was due to declining terminal expenses and other variable costs corresponding with
the decrease in revenue.

Income from Operations

Intermodal’s income from operations decreased by $0.6 million, or 6.8%, to $8.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 compared with $8.8 million for the same period in 2015.  Income from operations as a percentage
of Intermodal operating revenue was 10.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to 11.1% in the
same period of 2015.  The deterioration in operating income was primarily attributable to the negative impact on
revenue of decreased fuel surcharges and suppressed market conditions. The deterioration was partially offset by the
operating income contributed by Ace and Triumph since acquisition.
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Other Operations

Other operating activity improved from a $24.7 million operating loss during the nine months ended September 30,
2015 to a $2.5 million operating loss during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The year-over-year
improvement in other operations and corporate activities was largely due to $22.9 million of Towne acquisition and
integration costs included in results for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and no similar costs being included
in the same period of 2016. The prior year acquisition and integration costs included $2.6 million of severance
obligations and $11.3 million in reserves for remaining net payments, on duplicate facilities vacated during the nine
months ended September 30, 2015. The expenses associated with the severance obligations and vacated, duplicate
facility costs were recognized in the salaries, wages and benefits and operating lease line items, respectively. During
the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we also incurred expense of $9.0 million for various other integration and
transaction related costs which are largely included in other operating expenses. The $2.5 million in operating loss
included in other operations and corporate activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, was primarily for
increases to loss development factors resulting from our bi-annual actuary analysis of our vehicle and workers'
compensation claims. Other operating activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 also included a $0.5
million reserve for remaining net payments on duplicate facilities vacated following the Towne acquisition, as several
facilities have yet to be sub-leased. Other operating activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 included
approximately $1.8 million of additional expenses associated with our bi-annual actuary analysis. These loss
development adjustments were kept at the corporate level and not passed through to our segments.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).  The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Our estimates and assumptions are based on
historical experience and changes in the business environment.  However, actual results may differ from estimates
under different conditions, sometimes materially.  Critical accounting policies and estimates are defined as those that
are both most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require management’s most
subjective judgments.  A summary of significant accounting policies is disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our critical accounting policies are further
described under the caption “Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Long Term Assets

We test our goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate impairment may
exist. Examples of such events or circumstances could include a significant change in business climate or a loss of
significant customers. We complete our annual analysis of our reporting units as of the last day of our second quarter,
June 30th. We first consider our reporting unit and related components in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Goodwill is
allocated to reporting units that are expected to benefit from the business combinations generating the goodwill. We
have five reporting units - Expedited LTL, TLX Forward Air, Intermodal, Pool Distribution and Total Quality, Inc.
("TQI"). The TLX Forward Air and the TQI reporting units are assigned to the Expedited Truckload Services
reporting segment. In evaluating reporting units, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of any of its reporting units is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill.
When performing the qualitative assessment, we consider the impact of factors including, but not limited to,
macroeconomic and industry conditions, overall financial performance of each reporting unit, litigation and new
legislation. If based on the qualitative assessments, we believe it is more likely than not that the fair value of any
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reporting unit is less than the reporting unit's carrying amount, or periodically as deemed appropriate by management,
we will prepare an estimation of the respective reporting unit's fair value utilizing a quantitative approach. If this
estimation of fair value indicates that impairment potentially exists, we will then measure the amount of the
impairment, if any. Goodwill impairment exists when the calculated implied fair value of goodwill is less than its
carrying value.
We determine the fair value of our reporting units based on a combination of a market approach, which considers
comparable companies, and the income approach, using a discounted cash flow model. Under the market approach,
valuation multiples are derived based on a selection of comparable companies and applied to projected operating data
for each reporting unit to arrive at an indication of fair value. Under the income approach, the discounted cash flow
model determines fair value based on the present value of management prepared projected cash flows over a specific
projection period and a residual value related to future cash flows beyond the projection period. Both values are
discounted using a rate which reflects our best estimate of the weighted average cost of capital of a market participant,
and is adjusted for appropriate risk factors. We believe the most sensitive estimate used in our income approach is the
management prepared projected cash flows. Consequently, we perform sensitivity tests to ensure reductions of the
present value of the projected cash flows by at least 10% would not adversely impact the results of the goodwill
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impairment tests. Historically, we have equally weighted the income and market approaches as we believed the
quality and quantity of the collected information were approximately equal. The inputs used in the fair value
calculations for goodwill are classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as defined in the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
In 2016, we performed a fair value estimation for each reporting unit, except Intermodal as we did not believe it was
more likely than not that Intermodal's fair value was less than the carrying amount. Currently, there is no goodwill
assigned to the TLX Forward Air reporting unit. Our 2016 calculations for LTL and Pool Distribution indicated that,
as of June 30, 2016, the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded their carrying value by approximately 122.0% and
76.0%, respectively. However, due to TQI's financial performance falling notably short of our previous projections,
declining revenue from significant customers and strategic initiatives not having the required impact on financial
results, we reduced TQI's projected cash flows and as a result our estimate of TQI's fair value no longer exceeded the
respective carrying value. We concluded that an impairment loss was probable and could be reasonably estimated.
Consequently, we recorded an estimated goodwill impairment charge of $25.7 million for the TQI reporting unit.
Additionally, the Company reviews its other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In conjunction with the TQI impairment
calculations we obtained fair value information or prepared new fair value calculations for TQI's other long term
assets. Impairment is recognized on assets classified as held and used when the sum of undiscounted estimated cash
flows expected to result from the use of the asset is less than the carrying value. If such measurement indicates a
possible impairment, the estimated fair value of the asset is compared to its net book value to measure the impairment
charge, if any. Through our TQI goodwill impairment calculations we determined there were indicators that TQI's
customer relationship and non-compete intangible assets were impaired as the undiscounted cash flows associated
with the applicable assets no longer exceeded the related assets' net book values. We then estimated the current market
values of the customer relationship and non-compete assets using an income approach (level 3). Under this method, an
intangible asset's fair value is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows (excess earnings)
attributable solely to the intangible asset over its remaining useful life. To calculate fair value, we used cash flows
discounted at rates considered appropriate given the inherent risks associated with each type of asset. We believe that
the level and timing of cash flows appropriately reflect market participant assumptions. As a result of these
calculations, we recorded an impairment charge of $16.5 million.

In addition, during the three months ended June 30, 2016, we also discontinued use of an owned maintenance facility
and began efforts to sell the property. In conjunction with these actions, we incurred a $0.2 million impairment charge
that was estimated using current offers we received to sell the property (level 1).

For our 2016 analysis, the significant assumptions used for the income approach were 10 years of projected net cash
flows and the following discount and long-term growth rates:

LTL Pool
Distribution TQI

Discount rate 12.5% 17.0 % 14.5%
Long-term growth rate 5.0 % 5.0 % 4.0 %
As shown with the TQI impairment, these estimates used to calculate the fair value of each reporting unit change from
year to year based on operating results, market conditions, and other factors. Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could materially affect the determination of the reporting unit's fair value and goodwill impairment for
the reporting unit.

Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued guidance that changes the accounting for
certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. The guidance requires the recognition of the income tax effects
of awards in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled, thus eliminating additional paid in capital pools
(APIC). The guidance also allows for the employer to repurchase more of an employee’s shares for tax withholding
purposes without triggering liability accounting. In addition, the guidance allows for a policy election to account for
forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis. The guidance is effective in 2017 with early adoption
permitted. We plan to adopt this guidance in January 2017 and while the elimination of APIC pools will result in
increased volatility of our effective tax rate, the overall impact is expected to be minimal.

In February 2016, the FASB, issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which introduces the recognition of lease assets and lease
liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under previous guidance. The guidance will be
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those fiscal years
with early adoption permitted. We are evaluating the impact of the future adoption of this standard on our
consolidated financial statements.
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In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update No. 2015-17, "Balance Sheet Classification of
Deferred Taxes", an update to ASC 740, Income Taxes (“Update”). Current GAAP requires an entity to separate
deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified statement of financial
position. To simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes, the amendments in this Update require that deferred
tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. The current
requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a
single amount is not affected by the amendments in this Update. For public business entities, the amendments in this
Update are effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim
periods within those annual periods. The FASB also decided to permit earlier application by all entities as of the
beginning of any interim or annual reporting period. The FASB further provides that this Update may be applied to all
deferred tax liabilities and assets retrospectively to all periods presented. We chose to adopt the Update retrospectively
for the year ended December 31, 2015.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance on revenue from contracts with customers that will supersede most current
revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The underlying principle is that an entity will
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the entity expects to be
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance provides a five-step analysis of transactions to
determine when and how revenue is recognized. Other major provisions include capitalization of certain contract
costs, consideration of time value of money in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable consideration
to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The guidance also requires enhanced
disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s
contracts with customers. The guidance is effective for the interim and annual periods beginning on or after December
15, 2017. The guidance permits the use of either a retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. We have not
yet selected a transition method and are currently evaluating the impact of the amended guidance on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations and related disclosures.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our working capital needs, including capital expenditures, with cash flows from
operations and borrowings under our bank lines of credit. Net cash provided by operating activities totaled
approximately $94.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to approximately $57.3 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The $37.3 million increase in cash provided by operating activities is
mainly attributable to a $22.0 million increase in net earnings after consideration of non-cash items, a $24.1 million
decrease in cash used to fund accounts payable and prepaid assets and a $8.8 million decrease in cash collected from
accounts receivable. The decreases in cash used for accounts payable and prepaid assets is mainly attributable to the
prior year having cash paid to settle trade payables assumed with the Towne acquisition and reduced estimated income
tax payments. The decrease in cash received from accounts receivables is attributable to collections on acquired
accounts receivable in 2015 related to the Towne acquisition.

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $39.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
compared with approximately $79.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. Investing activities
during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 consisted primarily of $11.8 million used to acquire Ace and
Triumph, which rolled into the Intermodal segment, and net capital expenditures of $26.9 million primarily for new
trailers, forklifts, computer hardware and internally developed software.  Investing activities during the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 consisted primarily of $61.9 million used to acquire Towne and net capital expenditures of
$17.3 million primarily for new tractors and trailers to replace aging units. The proceeds from disposal of property and
equipment during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were primarily from sales of older trailers and
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Net cash used in financing activities totaled approximately $77.2 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2016  compared with net cash provided by financing activities of $28.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015.  The $105.7 million change in cash from financing activities was attributable to the prior year
including $125.0 million of proceeds from executing a two year term loan in conjunction with the Towne acquisition.
This was partly offset by a $45.4 million decrease in payments on debt and capital leases. Additionally, there was a
$6.4 million decrease in cash from employee stock transactions and related tax benefits. Payments on debt and capital
leases decreased as 2015 included the settlement of debt assumed with the acquisition of Towne. The nine months
ended September 30, 2016 also included $30.0 million used to repurchase shares of our common stock, compared to
$10.0 million was used to repurchase shares of our common stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

On February 4, 2015, we entered into a five-year senior, unsecured credit facility (the “Facility”) with a maximum
aggregate principal amount of $275.0 million, including a revolving credit facility of $150.0 million and a term loan
facility of $125.0 million. The revolving credit facility has a sublimit of $25.0 million for letters of credit and a
sublimit of $15.0 million for swing line loans. The revolving credit facility is scheduled to expire in February 2020
and may be used to refinance our existing indebtedness
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and for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. Unless we elect otherwise under
the credit agreement, interest on borrowings under the Facility are based on the highest of (a) the federal funds rate
plus 0.5%, (b) the administrative agent's prime rate and (c) the LIBOR Rate plus 1.0%, in each case plus a margin that
can range from 0.1% to 0.6% with respect to the term loan facility and from 0.3% to 0.8% with respect to the
revolving credit facility depending on our ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness to earnings as set forth in the
credit agreement. The Facility contains financial covenants and other covenants that, among other things, restrict our
ability, without the approval of the lenders, to engage in certain mergers, consolidations, asset sales, investments,
transactions or to incur liens or indebtedness, as set forth in the credit agreement. As of September 30, 2016, we had
no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility. At September 30, 2016, we had utilized $9.4 of
availability for outstanding letters of credit and had $140.6 of available borrowing capacity outstanding under the
revolving credit facility.

In conjunction with the acquisition of Towne, we borrowed $125.0 million on the available term loan. The term loan
is payable in quarterly installments of 11.1% of the original principal amount of the term loan plus accrued and unpaid
interest, and matures in March 2017. The interest rate on the term loan was 1.8% at September 30, 2016. The
remaining balance on the term loan was $41.7 million as of September 30, 2016 and is a current liability.

On February 7, 2014, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase authorization for up to two million shares of
our common stock. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we repurchased, we repurchased 222,388 for
$9,996, or $44.95 per share. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we repurchased 676,773 shares for
$29,987, or an average of $44.31 per share. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we
repurchased 204,590 for $9,996, or $48.86 per share.

On July 21, 2016, our Board of Directors cancelled the Company’s remaining 2014 share repurchase authorization and
approved a stock repurchase authorization for up to three million shares of the Company’s common stock. All shares
remain for repurchase, as shares repurchased in the three months ended September 30, 2016 were made under the
2014 plan.
During each quarter of 2015 and the first, second and third quarter of 2016, our Board of Directors declared a cash
dividend of $0.12 per share of common stock. We expect to continue to pay regular quarterly cash dividends, though
each subsequent quarterly dividend is subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors.
We believe that our available cash, investments, expected cash generated from future operations and borrowings under
the available credit facility will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains “forward-looking statements,” as defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  Forward-looking statements are statements
other than historical information or statements of current condition and relate to future events or our future financial
performance.  Some forward-looking statements may be identified by use of such terms as “believes,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “projects” or “expects.”  Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.  The following is a list of factors, among others, that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those contemplated by the forward-looking statements: economic factors such as recessions, inflation, higher interest
rates and downturns in customer business cycles, our inability to maintain our historical growth rate because of a
decreased volume of freight moving through our network or decreased average revenue per pound of freight moving
through our network, increasing competition and pricing pressure, surplus inventories, loss of a major customer, the
creditworthiness of our customers and their ability to pay for services rendered, our ability to secure terminal facilities
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in desirable locations at reasonable rates, the inability of our information systems to handle an increased volume of
freight moving through our network, changes in fuel prices, claims for property damage, personal injuries or workers’
compensation, employment matters including rising health care costs, enforcement of and changes in governmental
regulations, environmental and tax matters, the handling of hazardous materials, the availability and compensation of
qualified independent owner-operators and freight handlers needed to serve our transportation needs and our inability
to successfully integrate acquisitions. As a result of the foregoing, no assurance can be given as to future financial
condition, cash flows or results of operations.  We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our exposure to market risk related to our outstanding debt is not significant and has not changed materially since
December 31, 2015.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able to collect the information required to be
disclosed in the reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and to process, summarize and
disclose this information within the time periods specified in the rules of the SEC. Based on an evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report conducted by management, with
the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer believe that these controls and procedures are effective to ensure that we are able to collect, process
and disclose the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file with the SEC within the required time
periods.

Changes in Internal Control

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three ended September 30, 2016 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Part II. Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we are a party to ordinary, routine litigation incidental to and arising in the normal course of our
business, most of which involve claims for personal injury and property damage related to the transportation and
handling of freight, or workers’ compensation. We do not believe that any of these pending actions, individually or in
the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

A summary of factors which could affect results and cause results to differ materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by us, or on our behalf, are further described under the caption “Risk Factors” in the
Business portion of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no changes in the nature of these factors
since December 31, 2015.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On February 7, 2014, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program for up to 2.0 million shares of the
Company’s common stock. On July 21, 2016, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase authorization for up
to three million shares of the Company’s common stock and canceled the Company’s remaining 2014 share repurchase
authorization. No shares were purchased under the new authorization during the third quarter.

Period Total
Number of
Shares
Purchased

Average
Price
Paid per
Share

Total
Number of
Shares
Purchased
as Part of
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Publicly
Announced
2014
Program

July 1-31, 2016 222,388 $ 45 222,388
August 1-31, 2016 — — —
September 1-30, 2016 — — —
Total 222,388 $ 45 222,388
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

Not applicable.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

On July 21, 2016, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase authorization for up to three million shares of
the Company’s common stock. In connection with this action, the Board of Directors canceled the Company’s 2014
share repurchase authorization. The amount and timing of any repurchases under the Company’s new repurchase
authorization will be at such prices as determined by management of the Company. Repurchases of common stock
may also be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, which would permit common stock to be repurchased when the
Company might otherwise be precluded from doing so under insider trading laws. Share repurchases may be
commenced or suspended from time to time for any reason.

Item 6. Exhibits.

In accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8212, Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are to be treated as “accompanying” this report
rather than “filed” as part of the report.

No. Exhibit

3.1
Restated Charter of the registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 28, 1999 (File No.
0-22490))

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3-1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 6, 2009 (File No. 0-22490))

4.1
Form of Forward Air Corporation Common Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1998,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 16, 1998 (File No. 0-22490))

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a))
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a))

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Document 
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Forward Air Corporation
Date: October 26, 2016 By: /s/ Michael J. Morris

Michael J. Morris
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

By: /s/ Michael P. McLean
Michael P. McLean
Chief Accounting Officer, Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

No. Exhibit

3.1
Restated Charter of the registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 28, 1999 (File No.
0-22490))

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3-1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 6, 2009 (File No. 0-22490))

4.1
Form of Forward Air Corporation Common Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1998,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 16, 1998 (File No. 0-22490))

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a))
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a))

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Document 
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
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)
(1) Amounts above exclude taxes of $2.7 for each period presented, which will be recognized in earnings at the end of
the ten-year amortization period.
Foreign Currency Risk
We use foreign exchange forward contracts to manage a portion of our foreign currency exchange rate exposures. At
December 31, 2015, we had outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts with notional amounts totaling
approximately $127.9 for various currencies.
We use foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign currency exposure of certain intercompany loans.
These contracts are not designated as hedges. The change in fair value of these contracts is immediately recognized in
earnings and substantially offsets the foreign currency impact recognized in earnings relating to the associated
intercompany loans. During 2015 and 2014, we recorded losses of $2.7 and $14.9, respectively, in other expense, net
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations related to these undesignated foreign exchange forward contracts. Also
during 2015 and 2014, we recorded a loss of $2.5 and a gain of $16.6, respectively, related to the intercompany loans,
caused by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Credit Risk of Financial Instruments
At times, we attempt to minimize our credit exposure to counterparties by entering into derivative transactions and
similar agreements with major international financial institutions with "A" or higher credit ratings as issued by
Standard & Poor’s Corporation. Our foreign currency derivatives are typically comprised of over-the-counter forward
contracts, swaps or options with major international financial institutions. Although our theoretical credit risk is the
replacement cost at the then estimated fair value of these instruments, we believe that the risk of incurring credit risk
losses is remote and that such losses, if any, would not be material.
Non-performance of the counterparties on the balance of all the foreign exchange agreements would have resulted in a
write-off of $1.2 at December 31, 2015. In addition, in the event of non-performance by such counterparties, we
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would be exposed to market risk on the underlying items being hedged as a result of changes in foreign exchange
rates.
NOTE 9. Fair Value
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value
The fair value measurement provisions required by GAAP establish a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs
used in measuring fair value into three broad levels as follows:
•Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•Level 2 - Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly.
•Level 3 - Unobservable inputs based on our own assumptions.
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2015:
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Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Available-for-sale securities $2.8 $— $2.8
Foreign exchange forward contracts — 1.2 1.2
Total $2.8 $1.2 $4.0
Liabilities:
Foreign exchange forward contracts $— $1.1 $1.1
Total $— $1.1 $1.1
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2014:

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Available-for-sale securities $2.7 $— $2.7
Foreign exchange forward contracts — .6 .6
Total $2.7 $.6 $3.3
Liabilities:
Foreign exchange forward contracts $— $4.9 $4.9
Total $— $4.9 $4.9
The tables above exclude our defined benefit pension and postretirement plan assets. See Note 11, Employee Benefit
Plans, for the fair value hierarchy for our plan assets. The available-for-sale securities include securities held in a trust
in order to fund future benefit payments for non-qualified retirement plans (see Note 11, Employee Benefit Plans).
The foreign exchange forward contracts are hedges of either recorded assets or liabilities or anticipated transactions.
The underlying hedged assets and liabilities or anticipated transactions are not reflected in the table above (see Note 8,
Financial Instruments and Risk Management).
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis
December 31, 2015 - Egypt Goodwill
During the 2015 year-end close process, we completed our annual impairment assessment of the fair value of goodwill
related to Egypt and subsequently determined that the goodwill associated with Egypt was impaired. Accordingly, a
non-cash impairment charge of $6.9 was recorded to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill. There is no amount
remaining associated with goodwill for our Egypt reporting unit as a result of this impairment charge.
The impairment analyses performed for goodwill and intangible assets require several estimates in computing the
estimated fair value of a reporting unit, an indefinite-lived intangible asset, and a finite-lived intangible asset. As part
of our goodwill impairment analysis, we typically use a DCF approach to estimate the fair value of a reporting unit,
which we believe is the most reliable indicator of fair value of a business, and is most consistent with the approach
that we would generally expect a market participant would use. In estimating the fair value of our reporting units
utilizing a DCF approach, we typically forecast revenue and the resulting cash flows for periods of five to ten years
and include an estimated terminal value at the end of the forecasted period. When determining the appropriate forecast
period for the DCF approach, we consider the amount of time required before the reporting unit achieves what we
consider a normalized, sustainable level of cash flows. The estimation of fair value utilizing a DCF approach includes
numerous uncertainties which require significant judgment when making assumptions of expected growth rates and
the selection of discount rates, as well as assumptions regarding general economic and business conditions, and the
structure that would yield the highest economic value, among other factors.
Key assumptions used in measuring the fair value of Egypt during this impairment assessment included projections of
revenue and the resulting cash flows, as well as the discount rate (based on the estimated weighted-average cost of
capital). To estimate the fair value of Egypt, we forecasted revenue and the resulting cash flows over five years using
a DCF model which included a terminal value at the end of the projection period. We believed that a five-year period
was a reasonable amount of time in order to return Egypt's cash flows to normalized, sustainable levels.
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March 31, 2015 - Venezuela Long-Lived Assets
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
non-recurring basis as of March 31, 2015, and indicates the placement in the fair value hierarchy of the valuation
techniques utilized to
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determine such fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Venezuela long-lived assets $— $— $15.7 $15.7
Total $— $— $15.7 $15.7
In February 2015, we reviewed Avon Venezuela's long-lived assets to determine whether the carrying amount of the
assets was recoverable. Based on our expected cash flows associated with the asset group, we determined that the
carrying amount of the assets, carried at their historical U.S. dollar cost basis, was not recoverable. As such, an
impairment charge of $90.3 to selling, general and administrative expenses in the Latin America segment was
recorded to reflect the write-down of the long-lived assets to their estimated fair value, which was $15.7 at March 31,
2015. The fair value of Avon Venezuela's long-lived assets was determined using both market and cost valuation
approaches. The valuation analysis performed required several estimates, including market conditions and inflation
rates.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale securities, short-term investments,
money market funds, accounts receivable, loans receivable, debt maturing within one year, accounts payable,
long-term debt and foreign exchange forwards contracts. The carrying value for cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and short-term investments approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of
these instruments.
The net asset (liability) amounts recorded in the balance sheet (carrying amount) and the estimated fair values of our
remaining financial instruments at December 31 consisted of the following:

2015 2014
Carrying
Amount Fair Value Carrying

Amount Fair Value

Available-for-sale securities $2.8 $2.8 $2.7 $2.7
Debt maturing within one year(1) (55.2 ) (55.2 ) (121.7 ) (121.7 )
Long-term debt(1) (2,159.6 ) (1,622.7 ) (2,428.7 ) (2,207.2 )
Foreign exchange forward contracts .1 .1 (4.3 ) (4.3 )
(1) The carrying value of debt maturing within one year and long-term debt includes any related discount or premium
and unamortized deferred gains on terminated interest-rate swap agreements, as applicable.
The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value are as follows:
Available-for-sale securities - The fair values of these investments were the quoted market prices for issues listed on
securities exchanges.
Debt maturing within one year and long-term debt - The fair values of our debt and other financing were determined
using Level 2 inputs based on indicative market prices.
Foreign exchange forward contracts - The fair values of forward contracts were estimated based on quoted forward
foreign exchange prices at the reporting date.
NOTE 10. Share-Based Compensation Plans
The Avon Products, Inc. 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2010 Plan") and the Avon Products, Inc. 2013 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the “2013 Plan”), which are shareholder approved plans, provide for several
types of share-based incentive compensation awards including stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock, restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units. Following shareholder approval of the 2013 Plan
in May 2013, there were no further awards made under the 2010 Plan. Under the 2010 Plan, the maximum number of
shares that may be awarded was 32,000,000 shares, where the maximum number of shares was reduced as follows:
(i) in the case of the grant of an award of an option or Stock Appreciation Right ("SAR"), by each share of stock
subject to such an award and (ii) in the case of the grant of an award payable in stock other than an option or SAR by
2.33 multiplied by each share of stock subject to such award. Under the 2013 Plan, the maximum number of shares
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that may be awarded is 55,000,000 shares, where the maximum number of shares are reduced as follows: (i) in the
case of the grant of an award of an option or SAR, by each share subject to such an award and (ii) in the case of the
grant of an award payable in shares other than an option or SAR by 3.13 multiplied by each share subject to such an
award. Shares issued under share-based awards will be primarily funded with issuance of new shares.
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We have issued stock options and stock appreciation rights under the 2010 Plan, and restricted stock units and
performance restricted stock units under both the 2010 Plan and the 2013 Plan. Stock option awards are granted with
an exercise price equal to the closing market price of our stock at the date of grant. Those option awards and stock
appreciation rights generally vest in thirds over the three-year period following each option grant date and have
ten-year contractual terms. Restricted stock units granted to Associates generally vest and settle after three years.
Restricted stock units awarded to non-management directors vest in approximately one year and settle upon a
director's departure from the Board of Directors. Performance restricted stock units generally vest after three years
only upon the satisfaction of certain performance conditions.
For the years ended December 31:

2015 2014 2013
Compensation cost for stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance restricted stock units and restricted stock units $51.2 $38.9 $43.3

Total income tax benefit recognized for share-based arrangements 4.1 3.2 14.9
All of the compensation cost for stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance restricted stock units and
restricted stock units, including those that will be funded with treasury shares and those that have not resulted in a fair
value measurement date, for 2015, 2014 and 2013 was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Stock Options
There were no stock options granted since 2012. A summary of stock options as of December 31, 2015, and changes
during 2015, is as follows:

Shares
(in 000’s)

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted-
Average
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2015 17,158 $31.74
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Forfeited (6 ) 18.25
Expired (5,504 ) 38.20
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 11,648 $28.70 2.9 $—
Exercisable at December 31, 2015 11,018 $28.18 2.9 $—
We recognize expense on stock options using a graded vesting method, which recognizes the associated expense
based on the timing of option vesting dates. At December 31, 2015, there was no unrecognized compensation cost
related to stock options outstanding.
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Cash proceeds, tax obligations and intrinsic value related to total stock options exercised during 2014 and 2013, were
as follows:

2014 2013
Cash proceeds from stock options exercised $.2 $19.4
Tax obligation realized for stock options exercised — (1.8 )
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised — 6.4
Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units and Performance Restricted Stock Units
The fair value of restricted stock units, and performance restricted stock units granted in 2013 and 2014, was
determined based on the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of the performance
restricted stock units granted in 2015 was determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation that estimates the fair value
based on the Company's share price activity, expected term of the award, risk-free interest rate, expected dividends
and the expected volatility of the stock of the Company.
In 2013, we granted performance restricted stock units that would vest and settle after three years only upon the
satisfaction of certain performance conditions over three years. We have adjusted the compensation cost recognized
to-date to reflect our estimated performance.
In 2014, we granted performance restricted stock units that would vest and settle after three years only upon the
satisfaction of certain performance conditions over three years. We have adjusted the compensation cost recognized
to-date to reflect our estimated performance.
In 2015, we granted performance restricted stock units that would vest and settle after three years only upon the
satisfaction of certain performance conditions over two years ("2015 PRSUs"). In addition, if the performance
conditions are achieved above target, these performance restricted stock units are subject to a market condition in
which the number of performance restricted stock units that vest will be limited to the target amount if the Company’s
absolute total shareholder return during the three-year service period is negative. If the performance conditions are
achieved, the range of possible payouts of these performance restricted stock units is limited to a minimum of 50% of
target to a maximum of 150% of target. We currently believe that the achievement of the performance conditions is
probable.
A summary of restricted stock and restricted stock units at December 31, 2015, and changes during 2015, is as
follows:

Restricted Stock
And Units
(in 000’s)

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

January 1, 2015 4,995 $16.80
Granted 2,938 7.91
Vested (1,084 ) 18.14
Forfeited (827 ) 14.09
December 31, 2015 6,022 $12.62
A summary of performance restricted stock units at December 31, 2015, and changes during 2015, is as follows:

Performance Restricted
Stock Units
(in 000’s)

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

January 1, 2015(1) 4,976 $17.53
Granted 2,013 7.49
Vested — —
Forfeited (1,655 ) 18.32
December 31, 2015(1) 5,334 $13.51
(1) Based on initial target payout.
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The total fair value of restricted stock units that vested during 2015 was $10.1, based upon market prices on the
vesting dates. At December 31, 2015, there was approximately $45.4 of unrecognized compensation cost related to
these restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units compensation arrangements. That
cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.
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In addition to the amounts in the table above, later in 2015, we granted 1,123,183 performance restricted stock units
that would vest and settle in 2016 only upon the satisfaction of certain performance conditions through 2015. As of
December 31, 2015, the terms of this award have not yet resulted in a fair value measurement date. During 2015, we
recognized compensation cost of $1.6 for these performance restricted stock units. At December 31, 2015, there was
$3.0 of unrecognized compensation cost related to these performance restricted stock units.
Restricted Stock Units and Performance Restricted Stock Units Funded With Treasury Shares
In March 2015 and April 2012, we granted 489,596 and 200,000 restricted stock units, respectively, that will be
funded with treasury shares, outside of the 2013 Plan and 2010 Plan, in reliance upon The New York Stock Exchange
rules. The restricted stock units granted in March 2015 have a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $9.00 and
vest and settle ratably over three years. The restricted stock units granted in April 2012 have a weighted-average
grant-date fair value of $21.69 and vest and settle ratably over five years. During 2015, 40,000 of these restricted
stock units vested, and 569,596 of these restricted stock units were outstanding at December 31, 2015. During 2015,
2014 and 2013, we recognized compensation cost of $2.7, $.8 and $1.4, respectively, for these restricted stock units.
At December 31, 2015, there was $2.5 of unrecognized compensation cost related to these restricted stock units.
In March 2015, we granted 121,951 performance restricted stock units that will be funded with treasury shares,
outside of the 2013 Plan, in reliance upon The New York Stock Exchange rules. These performance restricted stock
units have a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $7.49 and the same terms exist for these awards as the 2015
PRSUs discussed above. All of these performance restricted stock units were outstanding at December 31, 2015.
During 2015, we recognized compensation cost of $.2 for these performance restricted stock units. At December 31,
2015, there was $.7 of unrecognized compensation cost related to these performance restricted stock units.
NOTE 11. Employee Benefit Plans
Savings Plan
We offer a qualified defined contribution plan for U.S.-based employees, the Avon Personal Savings Account Plan
(the "PSA"), which allows eligible participants to contribute up to 25% of eligible compensation through payroll
deductions. We match employee contributions dollar for dollar up to the first 3% of eligible compensation and fifty
cents for each dollar contributed from 4% to 6% of eligible compensation. We made matching contributions in cash to
the PSA of $4.0 in 2015, $5.0 in 2014 and $5.5 in 2013, which follow the same investment allocation that the
participant has selected for his or her own contributions. For U.S. employees hired on or after January 1, 2015, we
made additional contributions to a Retirement Savings Account ("RSA") within the PSA. Such contributions will
range from 3% to 6% of a participant's eligible compensation depending on the sum of the participant's age and length
of service (as of December 31 of the prior year). Investment of such contributions will follow the same investment
allocation that the participant has selected for his or her own contributions to the PSA. A participant will be vested in
the RSA generally after three full years of applicable service.
Defined Benefit Pension and Postretirement Plans
Avon and certain subsidiaries have contributory and noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans for substantially
all employees of those subsidiaries. Benefits under these plans are generally based on an employee’s length of service
and average compensation near retirement, and certain plans have vesting requirements. Plans are funded based on
legal requirements and cash flow. The U.S. defined benefit pension plan, the Avon Products, Inc. Personal Retirement
Account Plan (the "PRA"), is closed to employees hired on or after January 1, 2015. Qualified retirement benefits for
U.S. employees hired on or after January 1, 2015 will be provided solely through the PSA, as described above.
As part of the separation of the North America business, we will transfer certain pension liabilities under the PRA
associated with current and former employees of the North America business and certain other former Avon
employees, along with a portion of the assets held by the U.S. defined benefit pension plan, to a defined benefit
pension plan sponsored by the new privately-held company. We will also transfer certain other postretirement
liabilities (namely, retiree medical and supplemental pension liabilities) in respect of such employees and former
employees. We will continue to retain certain U.S. pension and other postretirement liabilities primarily associated
with employees who are actively employed by Avon outside of the North America business. Prior to this separation,
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our net periodic benefit costs for the U.S. pension and postretirement benefit plans were allocated between
Discontinued Operations and Global and Other Expenses as the plan includes both North America and U.S. Corporate
Avon associates.
We provide health care benefits, subject to certain limitations, to many retired employees in the U.S. and certain
foreign countries. In the U.S., the cost of such health care benefits is shared by us and our retirees for employees hired
on or before January 1, 2005. Employees hired after January 1, 2005, will pay the full cost of the health care benefits
upon retirement. In August 2009, we announced changes to our postretirement medical and life insurance benefits
offered to U.S. retirees. The changes to the retiree medical benefits reduced the plan’s obligations by $36.3, of which
$33.6 are associated with discontinued
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operations. This amount is being amortized as a negative prior service cost over the average future service of active
participants which is approximately 12 years. The changes to the retiree life insurance benefits reduced the plan’s
obligations by $27.7. This amount was amortized as a negative prior service cost over 3.3 years, which was the
remaining term of the plan.
In October 2015, we announced changes to our postretirement medical benefits offered to U.S. retirees to be effective
as of January 1, 2016. The changes to the retiree medical benefits reduced the plan’s obligations by $9.0, of which $8.3
are associated with discontinued operations. This amount is being amortized as a negative prior service cost over the
average future service of active participants which is approximately 8 years.
We are required, among other things, to recognize the funded status of defined benefit pension and other
postretirement benefit plans on the balance sheet. Each overfunded plan is recognized as an asset and each
underfunded plan is recognized as a liability. The recognition of prior service costs or credits and net actuarial gains or
losses, as well as subsequent changes in the funded status, are recognized as components of AOCI, net of tax, in
shareholders’ equity, until they are amortized as a component of net periodic benefit cost. We recognize prior service
costs or credits and actuarial gains and losses beyond a 10% corridor to earnings based on the estimated future service
period of the participants. The determination of the 10% corridor utilizes a calculated value of plan assets for our more
significant plans, whereby gains and losses are smoothed over three- and five-year periods.
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Reconciliation of Benefit Obligations, Plan Assets and Funded Status
The following table summarizes changes in the benefit obligation, plan assets and the funded status of our significant
defined benefit pension and postretirement plans. We use a December 31 measurement date for all of our employee
benefit plans.

Pension Plans
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Postretirement Benefits
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning balance $(705.2 ) $(668.3 ) $(777.6 ) $(734.3 ) $(93.4 ) $(93.8 )
Service cost (13.0 ) (14.1 ) (5.3 ) (6.0 ) (.7 ) (.7 )
Interest cost (25.1 ) (27.8 ) (23.6 ) (31.0 ) (3.7 ) (4.1 )
Actuarial (loss) gain 44.4 (124.6 ) 54.3 (123.4 ) 5.7 (2.0 )
Plan participant contributions — — — — (2.5 ) (2.8 )
Benefits paid 92.1 129.1 35.6 45.5 7.9 9.3
Plan amendments — 2.0 — — 9.0 —
Curtailments — (1.4 ) .2 — — .3
Settlements — — — .7 — —
Special termination benefits — (.1 ) — — — (.2 )
Foreign currency changes and other — — 48.7 70.9 1.1 .6
Ending balance $(606.8 ) $(705.2 ) $(667.7 ) $(777.6 ) $(76.6 ) $(93.4 )
Change in Plan Assets:
Beginning balance $506.5 $531.1 $607.9 $608.7 $— $—
Actual return on plan assets (13.7 ) 54.5 16.3 62.8 — —
Company contributions 7.6 50.0 21.6 27.4 5.4 6.5
Plan participant contributions — — — — 2.5 2.8
Benefits paid (92.1 ) (129.1 ) (35.6 ) (45.5 ) (7.9 ) (9.3 )
Foreign currency changes and other — — (33.9 ) (45.5 ) — —
Ending balance $408.3 $506.5 $576.3 $607.9 $— $—
Funded Status:
Funded status at end of year(1) $(198.5 ) $(198.7 ) $(91.4 ) $(169.7 ) $(76.6 ) $(93.4 )
Amount Recognized in Balance Sheet:
Other assets $— $— $8.1 $2.7 $— $—
Accrued compensation (6.6 ) (9.0 ) (1.6 ) (3.7 ) (6.9 ) (8.0 )
Employee benefit plans liability (191.9 ) (189.7 ) (97.9 ) (168.7 ) (69.7 ) (85.4 )
Net amount recognized(1) $(198.5 ) $(198.7 ) $(91.4 ) $(169.7 ) $(76.6 ) $(93.4 )
Pretax Amounts Recognized in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss:
Net actuarial loss $310.2 $380.0 $239.6 $302.5 $15.5 $23.2
Prior service credit (1.4 ) (2.1 ) (1.2 ) (1.4 ) (29.1 ) (24.6 )
Total pretax amount recognized $308.8 $377.9 $238.4 $301.1 $(13.6 ) $(1.4 )
Supplemental Information:
Accumulated benefit obligation $601.7 $701.6 $185.0 $735.0 N/A N/A
Plans with Projected Benefit
Obligation in Excess of Plan Assets:
Projected benefit obligation $606.8 $705.2 $207.3 $750.8 N/A N/A
Fair value plan assets 408.3 506.5 107.8 584.1 N/A N/A
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Plans with Accumulated Benefit
Obligation in Excess of Plan Assets:
Projected benefit obligation $606.8 $705.2 $186.3 $770.1 N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligation 601.7 701.6 173.7 744.7 N/A N/A
Fair value plan assets 408.3 506.5 93.7 597.6 N/A N/A
(1) Includes $145.7 and $148.0 of the U.S. pension plans at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and $53.6 and
$68.6 of the postretirement benefit plans net liability (related to the U.S.) at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, which are included in discontinued operations. Amounts associated with the pension and postretirement
benefit plans in Canada and the postretirement benefit plan in Puerto Rico, which are included in discontinued
operations, have been excluded from all amounts in the table above.
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The U.S. pension plans include a funded qualified plan and unfunded non-qualified plans. As of December 31, 2015,
the U.S. qualified pension plan had benefit obligations of $578.4 and plan assets of $408.3, of which $507.6 and
$374.8, respectively, are included in discontinued operations. As of December 31, 2014, the U.S. qualified pension
plan had benefit obligations of $673.1 and plan assets of $506.5, of which $544.7 and $411.6, respectively, are
included in discontinued operations. We believe we have adequate investments and cash flows to fund the liabilities
associated with the unfunded non-qualified plans.
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss

Pension Benefits
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Postretirement Benefits
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013

Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
Service cost $13.0 $14.1 $15.7 $5.3 $6.0 $9.2 $.7 $.7 $1.4
Interest cost 25.1 27.8 27.5 23.6 31.0 31.4 3.7 4.1 4.3
Expected return on plan assets (32.6 ) (35.8 ) (37.4 ) (36.4 ) (36.4 ) (33.9 ) — — —
Amortization of prior service credit (.7 ) (.3 ) (.3 ) (.1 ) (.1 ) (.3 ) (4.0 ) (4.4 ) (4.7 )
Amortization of net actuarial losses 43.7 45.1 47.2 8.4 6.5 8.5 1.8 1.3 2.3
Amortization of transition obligation — — — .1 — — — — —
Settlements/curtailments 27.9 38.0 — .5 2.7 (4.3 ) — (2.7 ) (1.8 )
Other — — — — — — — — —
Net periodic benefit cost(2) $76.4 $88.9 $52.7 $1.4 $9.7 $10.6 $2.2 $(1.0 ) $1.5
Other Changes in Plan Assets and
Benefit Obligations Recognized in
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income:
Actuarial losses (gains) $1.8 $105.9 $(80.8 ) $(34.2) $97.0 $(6.0 ) $(5.6 ) $2.0 $(22.5)
Prior service (credit) cost — (2.0 ) — — — — (9.0 ) — (1.3 )
Amortization of prior service credit .7 .3 .3 .1 .1 7.9 4.0 7.2 7.0
Amortization of net actuarial losses (71.6 ) (81.5 ) (47.2 ) (9.1 ) (9.9 ) (13.4 ) (1.8 ) (1.6 ) (3.1 )
Amortization of transition obligation — — — (.1 ) — — — — —
Foreign currency changes — — — (19.4 ) (28.0 ) 4.2 .2 .1 (.1 )
Total recognized in other
comprehensive (loss) income* $(69.1 ) $22.7 $(127.7) $(62.7) $59.2 $(7.3 ) $(12.2) $7.7 $(20.0)

Total recognized in net periodic
benefit cost and other comprehensive
(loss) income

$7.3 $111.6 $(75.0 ) $(61.3) $68.9 $3.3 $(10.0) $6.7 $(18.5)

(2) Includes $53.7, $62.6 and $35.2 of the U.S. pension plans in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and immaterial
amounts of the postretirement benefit plans (related to the U.S.) in 2015, 2014 and 2013, which are included in
discontinued operations. Amounts associated with the pension and postretirement benefit plans in Canada and the
postretirement benefit plan in Puerto Rico, which are included in discontinued operations, have been excluded from
all amounts in the table above.
* Amounts represent the pre-tax effect classified within other comprehensive (loss) income. The net of tax amounts
are classified within the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).
As a result of the lump-sum payments made to former employees that were vested and participated in the PRA, in the
third quarter of 2015, we recorded a settlement charge of $23.8. These lump sum payments were made from our plan
assets and were not the result of a specific offer to participants of our PRA as described below. Because the settlement
threshold was exceeded in the third quarter of 2015, a settlement charge of $4.1 was also recorded in the fourth quarter
of 2015, as a result of additional payments from the PRA. These settlement charges were allocated between Global
Expenses and Discontinued Operations.
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In an effort to reduce our pension benefit obligations, in March 2014, we offered former employees who were vested
and participated in the PRA a payment that would fully settle our pension plan obligation to those participants who
elected to receive such payment. The election period ended during the second quarter of 2014 and the payments were
made in June 2014 from our plan assets. As a result of the lump-sum payments made, in the second quarter of 2014,
we recorded a settlement charge of $23.5. Because the settlement threshold was exceeded in the second quarter of
2014, settlement charges of $5.4 and $7.5 were also recorded in the third and fourth quarters of 2014, respectively, as
a result of additional payments from the PRA. These settlement charges were allocated between Global Expenses and
Discontinued Operations.
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The amounts in AOCI that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost during 2016 are
as follows:

Pension Benefits

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Postretirement
Benefits

Net actuarial loss(3) $33.8 $6.9 $1.2
Prior service credit(3) (.5 ) (.1 ) (5.1 )
(3) The table above reflects the amounts in AOCI that would be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost
during 2016 if Avon North America were owned for the entire year. The estimated loss on sale includes
approximately $260 of net actuarial losses, partially offset by approximately $1 of prior service costs related to the
U.S. pension plans and approximately $14 of net actuarial losses, more than offset by approximately $26 of prior
service costs related to U.S. postretirement benefit plans. Amounts associated with the pension and postretirement
benefit plans in Canada and the postretirement benefit plan in Puerto Rico, which are included in discontinued
operations, have been excluded from all amounts in the table above. See Note 3, Discontinued Operations and
Divestitures.
Assumptions
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as
of December 31 were as follows:

Pension Benefits Postretirement
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Benefits
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Discount rate 4.19 % 3.83 % 3.69 % 3.27 % 4.50 % 4.20 %
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 % 4.00 % 3.26 % 3.20 % N/A N/A
The discount rate used for determining the present value of future pension obligations for each individual defined
benefit pension plan is based on a review of bonds that receive a high-quality rating from a recognized rating agency.
The discount rates for our more significant plans, including the PRA, were based on the internal rates of return for a
portfolio of high-quality bonds with maturities that are consistent with the projected future benefit payment
obligations of each plan. The weighted-average discount rate for U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans
determined on this basis has increased to 3.92% at December 31, 2015, from 3.54% at December 31, 2014. Amounts
associated with the pension plan in Canada and postretirement benefit plans in Canada and Puerto Rico, which are
associated with discontinued operations, have been excluded from all amounts.
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net benefit cost recorded in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Pension Benefits
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Postretirement Benefits
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013

Discount rate 3.83 % 4.54 % 3.55 % 3.27 % 4.59 % 4.69 % 4.20 % 4.97 % 4.00 %
Rate of compensation
increase 4.00 % 4.00 % 3.86 % 3.20 % 3.70 % 3.95 % N/A N/A N/A

Rate of return on assets 7.25 % 7.50 % 7.75 % 6.55 % 6.33 % 6.64 % N/A N/A N/A
In determining the long-term rates of return, we consider the nature of each plan’s investments, an expectation for each
plan’s investment strategies, historical rates of return and current economic forecasts, among other factors. We evaluate
the expected rate of return on plan assets annually and adjust as necessary. In determining the net cost for the year
ended December 31, 2015, the assumed rate of return on assets globally was 6.87%, which represents the
weighted-average rate of return on all plan assets, including the U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans.
Amounts associated with the pension and postretirement benefit plans in Canada and the postretirement benefit plan in
Puerto Rico, which are associated with discontinued operations, have been excluded from all amounts.
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The assumed rate of return for determining 2015 net costs for the U.S. defined benefit pension plan was 7.25%. In
addition, the current rate of return assumption for the U.S. defined benefit pension plan was based on an asset
allocation of approximately 70% in corporate and government bonds and mortgage-backed securities (which are
expected to earn approximately 3% to 5% in the long term) and approximately 30% in equity securities and high yield
securities (which are expected to earn approximately 5% to 7% in the long term). In addition to the physical assets, the
asset portfolio has derivative instruments which increase our exposure to higher yielding securities. Similar
assessments were performed in determining rates of return on
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non-U.S. defined benefit pension plan assets, to arrive at our weighted-average assumed rate of return of 6.55% for
determining 2015 net cost.
Plan Assets
Our U.S. and non-U.S. funded defined benefit pension plans target and weighted-average asset allocations at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, by asset category were as follows:

U.S. Pension Plan Non-U.S. Pension Plans
% of Plan Assets % of Plan Assets
Target at Year-End Target at Year-End

Asset Category 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
Equity securities 30 % 27 % 28 % 23 % 23 % 61 %
Debt securities 70 69 69 72 72 37
Real Estate — — — — — —
Other — 4 3 5 5 2
Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %
Amounts associated with the pension plan in Canada, which are included in discontinued operations, have been
excluded from all amounts in the table above.
The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for pension assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as
of December 31, 2015:

U.S. Pension Plan
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total
Equity Securities:
Domestic equity $— $13.3 $13.3
International equity — 79.5 79.5
Emerging markets — 16.5 16.5

— 109.3 109.3
Fixed Income Securities:
Corporate bonds — 156.8 156.8
Government securities — 126.8 126.8

— 283.6 283.6
Cash 12.2 — 12.2
Derivatives — 3.2 3.2
Total(4) $12.2 $396.1 $408.3
(4) Includes $374.8 which is included in discontinued operations at December 31, 2015.
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Non-U.S. Pension Plans
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity Securities:
Domestic equity $— $24.1 $— $24.1
International equity — 109.7 — 109.7

— 133.8 — 133.8
Fixed Income Securities:
Corporate bonds — 206.5 — 206.5
Government securities — 197.7 — 197.7
Other — 11.1 — 11.1

— 415.3 — 415.3
Other:
Cash 11.5 — — 11.5
Derivatives — 13.9 — 13.9
Real estate — — 1.0 1.0
Other — — .8 .8

11.5 13.9 1.8 27.2
Total $11.5 $563.0 $1.8 $576.3
Amounts associated with the pension plan in Canada, which are included in discontinued operations, have been
excluded from all amounts in the table above.
The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for pension assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as
of December 31, 2014:

U.S. Pension Plan
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total
Equity Securities:
Domestic equity $— $21.5 $21.5
International equity — 93.5 93.5
Emerging markets — 25.7 25.7

— 140.7 140.7
Fixed Income Securities:
Corporate bonds — 208.1 208.1
Government securities — 141.5 141.5

— 349.6 349.6
Cash 18.0 — 18.0
Derivatives — (1.8 ) (1.8 )
Total(5) $18.0 $488.5 $506.5
(5) Includes $411.6 which is included in discontinued operations at December 31, 2014.
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Non-U.S. Pension Plans
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity Securities:
Domestic equity $— $93.5 $— $93.5
International equity — 277.2 — 277.2

— 370.7 — 370.7
Fixed Income Securities:
Corporate bonds — 82.1 — 82.1
Government securities — 111.8 — 111.8
Other — 28.8 — 28.8

— 222.7 — 222.7
Other:
Cash 12.6 — — 12.6
Real estate — — 1.0 1.0
Other — — .9 .9

12.6 — 1.9 14.5
Total $12.6 $593.4 $1.9 $607.9
Amounts associated with the pension plan in Canada, which are included in discontinued operations, have been
excluded from all amounts in the table above.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for our Level 3 investments is provided in the table below: 

Amount
Balance as of January 1, 2014 $2.3
Actual return on plan assets held (.3 )
Foreign currency changes (.1 )

Balance as of December 31, 2014 1.9
Actual return on plan assets held .1
Foreign currency changes (.2 )

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $1.8
Investments in equity securities classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy are valued at quoted market prices.
Investments in equity securities classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy include collective funds that are
valued at quoted market prices for non-active securities. Fixed income securities are based on broker quotes for
non-active securities. Mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices. Real estate is valued by reference to
investment and leasing transactions at similar types of property, supplemented by third party appraisals. Derivative
instruments held by our U.S. pension trust are not publicly traded and each derivative contract is specifically
negotiated with a unique financial counterparty. The derivative instruments are valued based upon valuation
statements received from the financial counterparties, which use underlying yield curves or market indices.
The overall objective of the PRA is to provide the means to pay benefits to participants and their beneficiaries in the
amounts and at the times called for by the plan. This is expected to be achieved through the investment of our
contributions and other trust assets and by utilizing investment policies designed to achieve adequate funding over a
reasonable period of time.
Beginning in 2014, we have adopted an investment strategy for the PRA which is designed to match the movements in
the pension liability through an increased allocation towards debt securities. In addition, we also have begun to utilize
derivative instruments to achieve the desired market exposures or to hedge certain risks. Derivative instruments may
include, but are not limited to, futures, options, swaps or swaptions. Investment types, including the use of derivatives
are based on written guidelines established for each investment manager and monitored by the plan's investment
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committee. In 2015, similar investment strategies were implemented in some of our non-U.S. defined benefit pension
plans.
Pension trust assets are invested so as to achieve a return on investment, based on levels of liquidity and investment
risk that are prudent and reasonable as circumstances change from time to time. While we recognize the importance of
the preservation of capital, we also adhere to the theory of capital market pricing which maintains that varying degrees
of investment risk should be rewarded with compensating returns. Consequently, prudent risk-taking is justifiable.
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The asset allocation decision includes consideration of the non-investment aspects of the PRA, including future
retirements, lump-sum elections, growth in the number of participants, company contributions, and cash flow. These
characteristics of the plan place certain demands upon the level, risk, and required growth of trust assets. We regularly
conduct analyses of the plan’s current and likely future financial status by forecasting assets, liabilities, benefits and
company contributions over time. In so doing, the impact of alternative investment policies upon the plan’s financial
status is measured and an asset mix which balances asset returns and risk is selected.
Our decision with regard to asset mix is reviewed periodically. Asset mix guidelines include target allocations and
permissible ranges for each asset category. Assets are monitored on an ongoing basis and rebalanced as required to
maintain an asset mix within the permissible ranges. The guidelines will change from time to time, based on an
ongoing evaluation of the plan’s tolerance of investment risk.
Cash flows
We expect to make contributions related to continuing operations in the range of $25 to $30 to our U.S. defined
benefit pension and postretirement plans and in the range of $20 to $25 to our non-U.S. defined benefit pension and
postretirement plans during 2016.
Total benefit payments expected to be paid from the plans are as follows:

Pension Benefits

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total Postretirement
Benefits

2016(6) $64.2 $30.1 $94.3 $6.9
2017(6) 64.5 30.2 94.7 6.7
2018(6) 51.7 31.7 83.4 6.5
2019(6) 49.3 32.6 81.9 6.3
2020(6) 48.5 32.9 81.4 6.1
2021-2025(6) 212.9 180.6 393.5 27.1
(6)Approximately 80% of the expected U.S. Pension Plan benefit payments and approximately 70% of the expected
postretirement benefit payments included in the table above are associated with discontinued operations. Amounts
associated with the pension and postretirement benefit plans in Canada and the postretirement benefit plan in Puerto
Rico, which are associated with discontinued operations, have been excluded from all amounts in the table above.
Postretirement Benefits
For 2015, the assumed rate of future increases in the per capita cost of health care benefits (the health care cost trend
rate) was 8.6% for all claims and is assumed to gradually decrease each year thereafter to 5.1% (in 2022 and beyond
for our U.S. plan). A one-percentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates for all postretirement
plans would have the following effects:

1 Percentage
Point Increase

1 Percentage
Point Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $— $—
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation .1 (.1 )
Postemployment Benefits
We provide postemployment benefits, which include salary continuation, severance benefits, disability benefits and
continuation of health care benefits to eligible former employees after employment but before retirement. The accrued
cost for such postemployment benefits was $18.2 at December 31, 2015 and $25.2 at December 31, 2014, of which
$6.0 and $9.0, respectively, are included in discontinued operations, and the remaining was included in employee
benefit plans in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts associated with postemployment benefits in Canada,
which are included in discontinued operations, have been excluded from all amounts.
Supplemental Retirement Programs
In the U.S., in addition to qualified retirement plans (i.e., the PSA and the PRA), we also maintain unfunded
non-qualified plans. We offer a non-qualified deferred compensation plan, the Avon Products, Inc. Deferred
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Compensation Plan (the "DCP"), for certain higher paid key employees. The DCP is an unfunded, unsecured plan for
which obligations are paid to participants out of our general assets. The DCP allows for the deferral of up to 50% of a
participant’s base salary, the deferral of up to 100% 
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of incentive compensation bonuses, the deferral of performance restricted stock units for certain employees (through
the end of 2012 only), and the deferral of contributions that would normally have been made to the PSA but are not
deferred because the amount was in excess of U.S. Internal Revenue Code limits on contributions to the PSA.
Participants may elect to have their deferred compensation invested in one or more of three permitted investment
alternatives. Expense associated with the DCP was $.5 in 2015, $1.3 in 2014 and $1.2 in 2013. The benefit obligation
under the DCP was $34.5 at December 31, 2015 and $45.5 at December 31, 2014 and was included in other liabilities
and accrued compensation in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
We maintain supplemental retirement programs consisting of the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan of Avon
Products, Inc. ("SERP") and the Benefit Restoration Pension Plan of Avon Products, Inc. under which non-qualified
supplemental pension benefits are paid to higher paid key employees in addition to amounts received under our
qualified defined benefit retirement plan, which is subject to IRS limitations on covered compensation. The SERP has
not been offered to new employees in the last six years. The annual cost of these programs has been included in the
determination of the net periodic benefit cost shown previously and amounted to $6.3 in 2015, $7.1 in 2014 and $7.6
in 2013. The benefit obligation under these programs was $28.4 at December 31, 2015 and $32.1 at December 31,
2014 and was included in employee benefit plans and accrued compensation in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
We also maintain a Supplemental Life Plan ("SLIP") under which additional death benefits ranging from $.4 to $2.0
are provided to certain active and retired officers. The SLIP has not been offered to new officers in the last five years.
We established a grantor trust to provide assets that may be used for the benefits payable under the SERP and SLIP.
The trust is irrevocable and, although subject to creditors’ claims, assets contributed to the trust can only be used to pay
such benefits with certain exceptions. The assets held in the trust are included in other assets and at December 31
consisted of the following:

2015 2014
Corporate-owned life insurance policies $32.7 $32.2
Cash and cash equivalents .7 1.4
Total $33.4 $33.6
The assets are recorded at fair market value, except for investments in corporate-owned life insurance policies which
are recorded at their cash surrender values as of each balance sheet date, which is a proxy of fair value. Changes in the
cash surrender value during the period are recorded as a gain or loss within selling, general and administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

NOTE 12. Segment Information
Our reportable segments are based on geographic operations and include commercial business units in Latin America;
Europe, Middle East & Africa; and Asia Pacific. The segments have similar business characteristics and each offers
similar products through similar customer access methods.
Global and other expenses include, among other things, costs related to our executive and administrative offices,
information technology, research and development, and marketing, costs in connection with the ongoing compliance
with the deferred prosecution agreement (the "DPA") and the consent to settlement (the "Consent"), prior professional
and related fees associated with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA") investigations and compliance reviews,
the prior accrual for the settlements related to the FCPA investigations, and settlement charges associated with the
U.S. pension plan. We allocate certain planned global expenses to our business segments primarily based on planned
revenue. The unallocated costs remain as Global and other expenses. We do not allocate to our segments costs of
implementing restructuring initiatives related to our global functions, costs in connection with the ongoing compliance
with the DPA and the Consent, prior professional and related fees associated with the FCPA investigations and
compliance reviews, the prior accrual for the settlements related to the FCPA investigations, and settlement charges
associated with the U.S. pension plan. Costs of implementing restructuring initiatives related to a specific segment are
recorded within that segment.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1, Description of the Business and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. We evaluate the performance of our segments based on revenues and
operating profits or losses. Segment revenues primarily reflect direct sales of products to Representatives based on the
Representative’s geographic location. Intersegment sales and transfers are not significant. Each segment records direct
expenses related to its employees and its operations.
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Summarized financial information concerning our reportable segments as of December 31 is shown in the following
tables:  
Total Revenue & Operating Profit
(Loss)

2015 2014 2013

Total
Revenue

Operating
Profit
(Loss)

Total
Revenue

Operating
Profit (Loss)

Total
Revenue

Operating
Profit (Loss)

Latin America $3,260.4 $103.1 $4,239.5 $ 279.8 $4,840.5 $ 478.6
Europe, Middle East & Africa 2,272.3 217.1 2,705.8 300.9 2,898.4 406.7
Asia Pacific 627.8 35.3 702.7 20.9 757.9 (12.1 )
Total from operations 6,160.5 355.5 7,648.0 601.6 8,496.8 873.2
Global and other — (190.5 ) — (167.3 ) — (333.4 )
Total $6,160.5 $165.0 $7,648.0 $ 434.3 $8,496.8 $ 539.8
Total Assets

2015 2014 2013
Latin America $1,543.0 $2,033.0 $2,432.7
Europe, Middle East & Africa 910.4 1,170.6 1,370.9
Asia Pacific 317.0 390.8 441.7
Total from continuing operations 2,770.4 3,594.4 4,245.3
Total from discontinued operations* 371.2 426.0 524.6
Global and other 637.9 1,476.4 1,722.4
Total assets* $3,779.5 $5,496.8 $6,492.3

*
Total assets from discontinued operations and total assets at December 31, 2015 and 2014 in the table above exclude
the $100.0 receivable from continuing operations that was presented within current assets of discontinued operations.
See Note 3, Discontinued Operations and Divestitures.
Capital Expenditures

2015 2014 2013
Latin America $55.3 $82.6 $94.1
Europe, Middle East & Africa 18.4 19.0 20.0
Asia Pacific 3.5 3.3 6.6
Total from operations 77.2 104.9 120.7
Global and other 15.2 21.4 69.0
Total capital expenditures $92.4 $126.3 $189.7
Depreciation and Amortization

2015 2014 2013
Latin America $51.0 $70.9 $72.2
Europe, Middle East & Africa 31.0 40.0 46.6
Asia Pacific 13.6 17.3 21.9
Total from operations 95.6 128.2 140.7
Global and other 30.5 41.2 47.0
Total depreciation and amortization $126.1 $169.4 $187.7
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Total Revenue by Major Country
A major country is defined as one with total revenues greater than 10% of consolidated total revenues.

2015 2014 2013
Brazil $1,252.6 $1,909.3 $2,014.0
All other 4,907.9 5,738.7 6,482.8
Total $6,160.5 $7,648.0 $8,496.8
Long-Lived Assets by Major Country
A major country is defined as one with long-lived assets greater than 10% of consolidated long-lived assets, and also
includes our country of domicile (the U.S.). Long-lived assets primarily includes property, plant and equipment
associated with our continuing operations. Long-lived assets in Brazil consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment related to manufacturing and distribution facilities and long-lived assets in the U.S. consist primarily of
property, plant and equipment, including our global research and development facility.

2015 2014 2013
Brazil $302.7 $361.9 $421.5
U.S. 225.9 250.0 265.6
All other 597.3 969.8 1,112.9
Total $1,125.9 $1,581.7 $1,800.0
NOTE 13. Leases and Commitments
Minimum rental commitments under noncancellable operating leases, primarily for equipment and office facilities at
December 31, 2015, are included in the following table under leases. Purchase obligations include commitments to
purchase paper, inventory and other services.

Year Leases Purchase
Obligations

2016 $72.3 $143.8
2017 55.3 96.2
2018 45.3 63.0
2019 39.3 53.7
2020 33.9 50.2
Later years 100.2 49.3
Sublease rental income (33.3 ) N/A
Total $313.0 $456.2
Rent expense was $74.4 in 2015, $90.7 in 2014 and $109.6 in 2013. Plant construction, expansion and modernization
projects with an estimated cost to complete of approximately $39.9 were in progress at December 31, 2015.
NOTE 14. Restructuring Initiatives
Transformation Plan
In January 2016, we announced a transformation plan (the "Transformation Plan"), which includes cost reduction
efforts to continue to improve our cost structure and to enable us to reinvest in growth. As a result of this plan, we
have targeted pre-tax annualized cost savings of approximately $350 after three years, with an estimated $200 from
supply chain reductions and an estimated $150 from other cost reductions, which are expected to be achieved through
restructuring actions as well as other cost-savings strategies that will not result in restructuring charges. We plan to
reinvest a portion of these cost savings in growth initiatives, including media, social selling and information
technology systems that will help us modernize our business. We initiated the Transformation Plan in order to enable
us to achieve our long-term goals of double-digit operating margin and mid single-digit constant-dollar revenue
growth.
As part of the Transformation Plan, we identified certain actions beginning in the fourth quarter of 2015 that we
believe will reduce ongoing costs, primarily consisting of global headcount reductions relating to an information
technology infrastructure outsourcing initiative.
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As a result of these restructuring actions approved-to-date, we have recorded total costs to implement these
restructuring initiatives of $22.4 before taxes, during 2015 in selling, general and administrative expenses, in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. These costs to implement consisted of $21.4 of employee-related costs due to
severance benefits and $1.0 of implementation costs for professional service fees and were recorded in Corporate. The
liability balance for the employee-related costs associated with these restructuring actions as of December 31, 2015 is
$21.4. The majority of cash payments, if applicable, associated with these charges are expected to be made during
2016.
The additional charges not yet incurred associated with the restructuring actions approved to-date of approximately
$10 before taxes are expected to be recorded primarily in 2016. In connection with the restructuring actions approved
to-date associated with the Transformation Plan, we expect to realize annualized savings of approximately $10 to $15
(before tax). We expect to begin to realize savings in 2018 and are expected to achieve the annualized savings
beginning in 2019. The annualized savings represent the net reduction of expenses that will no longer be incurred by
Avon.
At this time we are unable to quantify the total costs to implement these restructuring initiatives that will be incurred
through the time the Transformation Plan is fully implemented.
Additional Restructuring Charges 2015
As a result of the then-current economic environment, including the impact of foreign currency movements and
inflation on our expenses, and in an effort to continue to improve our cost structure, we identified certain actions
during 2015 that we believe will reduce ongoing costs. These actions primarily consisted of global headcount
reductions.
As a result of these restructuring actions, we recorded total costs to implement these restructuring initiatives of $29.7
before taxes, during 2015 in selling, general and administrative expenses, in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. There are no material remaining costs for restructuring actions approved-to-date as the actions associated
with these various restructuring initiatives are substantially complete. In connection with these restructuring actions,
we expect to realize annualized savings of approximately $30 before taxes. We began to realize savings in the second
quarter of 2015 and have achieved the annualized savings beginning in the third quarter of 2015. The annualized
savings represent the net reduction of expenses that will no longer be incurred by Avon.
Costs to implement of $29.7 were recorded during 2015 and consisted of the following:
•charge of $22.1 for employee-related costs due to severance benefits; and
•implementation costs of $7.6 primarily for professional service fees associated with Corporate and Asia Pacific.
The majority of cash payments, if applicable, associated with these charges were made during 2015.
The liability balance, which primarily consists of employee-related costs, for these various restructuring initiatives as
of December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Total
2015 charges $24.9
Adjustments (2.8 )
Cash payments (17.8 )
Foreign exchange (.3 )
Balance at December 31, 2015 $4.0
The charges approved to date under these various restructuring initiatives by reportable business segment were as
follows:

Latin
America

Europe,
Middle
East &
Africa

Asia
Pacific Corporate Total

Charges incurred on approved initiatives $2.9 $4.2 $5.8 $9.2 $22.1
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In addition to the charges included in the tables above, we have incurred other costs to implement restructuring
initiatives such as professional services fees.

$400M Cost Savings Initiative
In 2012, we announced a cost savings initiative (the "$400M Cost Savings Initiative") in an effort to stabilize the
business and return Avon to sustainable growth, which was expected to be achieved through restructuring actions as
well as other cost-savings strategies that will not result in restructuring charges. The $400M Cost Savings Initiative
was designed to reduce our operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue to help us achieve a targeted low
double-digit operating margin, which
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included the North America business which has since been presented as discontinued operations for all periods
presented. The restructuring actions under the $400M Cost Savings Initiative primarily consist of global headcount
reductions and related actions, as well as the closure of certain smaller, under-performing markets, including South
Korea, Vietnam, Republic of Ireland, Bolivia and France. Other costs to implement these restructuring initiatives
consist primarily of professional service fees and accelerated depreciation.
As a result of the restructuring actions associated with the $400M Cost Savings Initiative, we recorded total costs to
implement these restructuring initiatives of $165.7 before taxes. There are no significant remaining costs for
restructuring actions approved-to-date as the actions associated with the $400M Cost Savings Initiative are
substantially complete. In connection with the restructuring actions associated with the $400M Cost Savings Initiative,
we have realized substantially all of the annualized savings of approximately $215 to $225 before taxes. As part of the
$400M Cost Savings Initiative we also realized benefits from other cost-savings strategies that were not the result of
restructuring charges (including reductions in legal costs). For market closures, the annualized savings represented the
foregone selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of no longer operating in the respective markets. For
actions that did not result in the closure of a market, the annualized savings represented the net reduction of expenses
that will no longer be incurred by Avon. The annualized savings do not incorporate the impact of the decline in
revenue associated with these actions (including market closures), which is not material.
Restructuring Charges – 2015
During 2015, we recorded a benefit of $3.5 related to the $400M Cost Savings Initiative, in selling, general and
administrative expenses, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The costs consisted of the following:
•net benefit of $4.4 primarily for employee-related benefits, associated with severance;

•implementation costs of $.9 primarily related to professional service fees associated with our Europe, Middle East &Africa and Asia Pacific businesses;

•benefit of $.4 primarily related to the accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments associated with AsiaPacific markets;
•accelerated depreciation of $.3 associated with the closure and rationalization of certain facilities; and
•contract termination and other charge of $.1, primarily related to Asia Pacific.
The majority of cash payments, if applicable, associated with these charges were made in 2015 and the remaining are
expected to be made during 2016.
Restructuring Charges – 2014
During 2014, we recorded total costs to implement of $83.9 related to the $400M Cost Savings Initiative, in selling,
general and administrative expenses, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The costs consisted of the
following:
•net charge of $57.9 primarily for employee-related costs, including severance benefits;
•accelerated depreciation of $12.2 associated with the closure and rationalization of certain facilities and other assets;

•contract termination and other charges of $6.3, primarily related to the costs associated with the closure of the Francemarket and the exit of the Service Model Transformation ("SMT") facility;
•implementation costs of $3.8 primarily related to professional service fees; and

•charge of $3.7 primarily related to the accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments associated with theclosure of the France market.
Restructuring Charges – 2013
During 2013, we recorded total costs to implement of $52.6 related to the $400M Cost Savings Initiative, and the
costs consisted of the following:
•net charge of $45.3 primarily for employee-related costs, including severance and pension benefits;

•contract termination and other charges of $4.6, primarily related to the costs associated with our exit from theRepublic of Ireland market;
•accelerated depreciation of $3.4 associated with the closure and rationalization of certain facilities;
•
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net benefit of $3.5 due to accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments in the second quarter of 2013
primarily associated with our exit from the Vietnam market;
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•implementation costs of $3.5 for professional service fees; and
•net benefit of $.7 due to inventory adjustments in the first and second quarters of 2013.
Of the total costs to implement, $53.3 was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses and a net benefit
of $.7 was recorded in cost of sales, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The liability balance for the $400M Cost Savings Initiative as of December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Employee-
Related
Costs

 Inventory/
Asset
Write-offs

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment
Write-offs

Contract
Terminations/
Other

Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 $19.0 $— $— $ 1.7 $20.7
2013 Charges 45.5 .1 (3.5 ) 5.1 47.2
Adjustments (.2 ) (.8 ) — (.5 ) (1.5 )
Cash payments (40.5 ) — — (4.8 ) (45.3 )
Non-cash write-offs 2.0 .7 3.5 — 6.2
Foreign exchange .1 — — .1 .2
Balance at December 31, 2013 $25.9 $— $— $ 1.6 $27.5
2014 Charges 64.2 — 3.7 7.4 75.3
Adjustments (6.3 ) — — (1.1 ) (7.4 )
Cash payments (44.8 ) — — (6.9 ) (51.7 )
Non-cash write-offs .2 — (3.7 ) — (3.5 )
Foreign exchange (2.1 ) — — (.1 ) (2.2 )
Balance at December 31, 2014 $37.1 $— $— $ .9 $38.0
2015 Charges .6 — (.4 ) .3 .5
Adjustments (5.0 ) — — (.1 ) (5.1 )
Cash payments (25.8 ) — — (.6 ) (26.4 )
Non-cash write-offs .4 — .4 — .8
Foreign exchange (1.5 ) — — (.1 ) (1.6 )
Balance at December 31, 2015 $5.8 $— $— $ .4 $6.2
Non-cash write-offs associated with employee-related costs are the result of settlements, curtailments and special
termination benefits for pension and postretirement benefits plans due to the initiatives implemented.
The following table presents the restructuring charges incurred to-date, net of adjustments, under our $400M Cost
Savings Initiative:

Employee-
Related
Costs

Inventory/
Asset
Write-offs

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment
Write-offs

Contract
Terminations/
 Other

Total

Total charges incurred $126.1 $.7 $(.2 ) $ 12.9 $139.5
The charges, net of adjustments, of initiatives under the $400M Cost Savings Initiative by reportable business segment
were as follows:

Latin
America

Europe,
Middle
East &
Africa

Asia
Pacific Corporate Total

2012 $12.9 $1.1 $12.9 $3.6 $30.5
2013 11.1 15.6 1.3 17.7 45.7
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2014 24.5 19.9 6.5 17.1 68.0
2015 (1.3 ) (1.2 ) (.2 ) (2.0 ) (4.7 )
Total charges incurred $47.2 $35.4 $20.5 $36.4 $139.5
As noted previously, we have recorded total costs to implement of $165.7 before taxes under the $400M Cost Savings
Initiative. The amounts shown in the tables above as total charges incurred relate to initiatives that have been
approved and
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recorded in the financial statements. No material additional charges are expected to be incurred. In addition to the
charges included in the tables above, we have incurred other costs to implement restructuring initiatives such as other
professional services and accelerated depreciation.
Other Restructuring Initiatives
During 2015, 2014 and 2013, we recorded net charges of $.5, $2.1 and $.8, respectively, in selling, general and
administrative expenses, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, associated with the restructuring programs
launched in 2005 and 2009 and the restructuring initiative launched in 2012 (the "Other Restructuring Initiatives"),
each of which are substantially complete. The liability balance associated with the Other Restructuring Initiatives,
which primarily consists of contract termination costs, as of December 31, 2015 is not material.
NOTE 15. Contingencies
Settlements of FCPA Investigations
As previously reported, we engaged outside counsel to conduct an internal investigation and compliance reviews
focused on compliance with the FCPA and related U.S. and foreign laws in China and additional countries. The
internal investigation, which was conducted under the oversight of our Audit Committee, began in June 2008. The
internal investigation and compliance reviews focused on reviewing certain expenses and books and records
processes, including, but not limited to, travel, entertainment, gifts, use of third-party vendors and consultants and
related due diligence, joint ventures and acquisitions, and payments to third-party agents and others, in connection
with our business dealings, directly or indirectly, with foreign governments and their employees. The internal
investigation and compliance reviews of these matters are complete. In connection with the internal investigation and
compliance reviews, certain personnel actions, including termination of employment of certain senior members of
management, were taken. In connection with the internal investigation and compliance reviews, we have enhanced our
ethics and compliance program, including our policies and procedures, FCPA compliance-related training, FCPA
third-party due diligence program and other compliance-related resources.
As previously reported, in October 2008, we voluntarily contacted the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
"SEC") and the U.S. Department of Justice (the "DOJ") to advise both agencies of our internal investigation. We
cooperated with investigations of these matters by the SEC and the DOJ.
As previously reported, in December 2014, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the
"USDC") approved a DPA entered into between the Company and the DOJ related to charges of violations of the
books and records and internal controls provisions of the FCPA. In addition, Avon Products (China) Co. Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company operating in China, pleaded guilty to conspiring to violate the books and records provision
of the FCPA and was sentenced by the USDC to pay a $68 fine. The SEC also filed a complaint against the Company
charging violations of the books and records and internal controls provisions of the FCPA and the Consent which was
approved in a judgment entered by the USDC in January 2015, and included $67 in disgorgement and prejudgment
interest. The DPA, the above-mentioned guilty plea and the Consent resolved the SEC’s and the DOJ’s investigations of
the Company’s compliance with the FCPA and related U.S. laws in China and additional countries. The fine was paid
in December 2014 and the payment to the SEC was made in January 2015, both of which had been previously accrued
for before December 31, 2014.
Under the DPA, the DOJ will defer criminal prosecution of the Company for a term of three years. If the Company
remains in compliance with the DPA during its term, the charges against the Company will be dismissed with
prejudice. Under the DPA, the Company also represented that it has implemented and agreed that it will continue to
implement a compliance and ethics program designed to prevent and detect violations of the FCPA and other
applicable anti-corruption laws throughout its operations.
Under the DPA and the Consent, among other things, the Company agreed to have a compliance monitor (the
"monitor"). During July 2015, the Company engaged a monitor, who had been approved by the DOJ and SEC. With
the approval of the DOJ and the SEC, the monitor can be replaced by the Company after 18 months, if the Company
agrees to undertake self-reporting obligations for the remainder of the monitoring period. The monitoring period is
scheduled to expire in July 2018. There can be no assurance as to whether or when the DOJ and the SEC will approve
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replacing the monitor with the Company’s self-reporting. If the DOJ determines that the Company has knowingly
violated the DPA, the DOJ may commence prosecution or extend the term of the DPA, including the monitoring
provisions described above, for up to one year.
The monitor is assessing and monitoring the Company's compliance with the terms of the DPA and the Consent by
evaluating, among other things, the Company's internal accounting controls, recordkeeping and financial reporting
policies and procedures. The monitor may recommend changes to our policies and procedures that we must adopt
unless they are unduly burdensome or otherwise inadvisable, in which case we may propose alternatives, which the
DOJ and the SEC may or may not accept. In addition, operating under the oversight of the monitor may result in
additional time and attention on these matters by members
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of our management, which may divert their time from the operation of our business. Assuming the monitor is replaced
by a self-reporting period, the Company’s self-reporting obligations may be costly or time-consuming.
While the costs have not been significant to date, we currently cannot estimate the costs that we are likely to incur in
connection with ongoing compliance with the DPA and the Consent, including the monitorship, the costs, if
applicable, of self-reporting, and the costs of implementing the changes, if any, to our policies and procedures
required by the monitor. These costs could be significant.
Litigation Matters
In July and August 2010, derivative actions were filed in state court against certain present or former officers and/or
directors of the Company (Carol J. Parker, derivatively on behalf of Avon Products, Inc. v. W. Don Cornwell, et al.
and Avon Products, Inc. as nominal defendant (filed in the New York Supreme Court, Nassau County, Index No.
600570/2010); Lynne Schwartz, derivatively on behalf of Avon Products, Inc. v. Andrea Jung, et al. and Avon
Products, Inc. as nominal defendant (filed in the New York Supreme Court, New York County, Index No.
651304/2010)). On November 22, 2013, a derivative action was filed in federal court against certain present or former
officers and/or directors of the Company and following the federal court's dismissal, an additional action was
subsequently filed in New York state court on May 1, 2015 (Sylvia Pritika, derivatively on behalf of Avon Products,
Inc. v. Andrea Jung, et al. and Avon Products, Inc. as nominal defendant (filed in the New York Supreme Court, New
York County, Index No. 651479/2015)). The claims asserted in one or more of these actions include alleged breach of
fiduciary duty, abuse of control, waste of corporate assets, and unjust enrichment, relating to the Company's
compliance with the FCPA, including the adequacy of the Company's internal controls. The relief sought against the
individual defendants in one or more of these derivative actions include certain declaratory and equitable relief,
restitution, damages, exemplary damages and interest. The Company is a nominal defendant, and no relief is sought
against the Company itself. On April 28, 2015, an action was filed to seek enforcement of demands for the inspection
of certain of the Company’s books and records (Belle Cohen v. Avon Products, Inc. (filed in the New York Supreme
Court, New York County, Index No. 651418/2015)). The parties have reached agreements to settle the derivative and
books and records actions. The terms of settlement include certain corporate governance measures as well as releases
of claims. The Company has accrued approximately $4 with respect to these matters, which the Company expects will
be paid by insurance. Settlement is conditioned upon court approval of the proposed resolution of the derivative
actions. In the event that the court does not approve the settlement of the derivative actions, or that the agreements are
otherwise terminated before becoming final, we are unable to predict the outcome of these matters.
On July 6, 2011, a purported shareholder's class action complaint (City of Brockton Retirement System v. Avon
Products, Inc., et al., No. 11-CIV-4665) was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York against the Company and certain present or former officers and/or directors of the Company. On September 29,
2011, the Court appointed LBBW Asset Management Investmentgesellschaft mbH and SGSS Deutschland
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH as lead plaintiffs and Motley Rice LLC as lead counsel. Lead plaintiffs filed an
amended complaint, and the defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint on June 14, 2012. On September 29,
2014, the Court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss and also granted the plaintiffs leave to amend their
complaint. On October 24, 2014, plaintiffs filed their second amended complaint on behalf of a purported class
consisting of all persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired shares of Avon's common stock from July
31, 2006 through and including October 26, 2011. The second amended complaint names as defendants the Company
and two individuals and asserts violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act based on allegedly false or
misleading statements and omissions with respect to, among other things, the Company's compliance with the FCPA,
including the adequacy of the Company's internal controls. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages and declaratory,
injunctive, and other equitable relief. Defendants moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint on November 21,
2014. The parties have reached an agreement on a settlement of this class action. The terms of settlement include
releases by members of the class of claims against the Company and the individual defendants and payment of $62.
Under the terms of the settlement, approximately $60 of the settlement was paid by the Company's insurers and
approximately $2 was paid by the Company (which represented the remaining deductible under the Company’s
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applicable insurance policy) into escrow. On August 21, 2015, the court granted preliminary approval of the
settlement, and on December 1, 2015 the court held a hearing to consider final approval of the settlement and
expressed an intent to grant final approval. However, the court has not yet entered a final judgment approving the
settlement. If the settlement is not approved by the court, or is otherwise terminated before it is finalized, the
Company will be unable to predict the outcome of this matter. Furthermore, in that event, it is reasonably possible that
the Company may incur a loss in connection with this matter, which the Company is unable to reasonably estimate.
Between December 23, 2014 and March 12, 2015, two purported class actions were filed in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York -- Poovathur v. Avon Products, Inc., et al. (No. 14-CV-10083) and
McCoy et al. v. Avon Products, Inc., et al. (No. 15-CV-01828) asserting claims under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act ("ERISA") against the Company, the Plan's administrator, benefits board and investment
committee, and certain individuals alleged to have served as Plan fiduciaries. On April 8, 2015, the Court consolidated
the two actions and recaptioned the consolidated case as In re 2014 Avon Products, Inc. ERISA Litigation, (No.
14-CV-10083). On May 8, 2015, plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint,

F-49

Edgar Filing: FORWARD AIR CORP - Form 10-Q

131



AVON PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

asserting claims for alleged breach of fiduciary duty and failure to monitor under ERISA on behalf of a purported
class of participants in and beneficiaries of the Plan who invested in and/or held shares of the Avon Common Stock
Fund between July 31, 2006 and May 1, 2014 and between December 14, 2011 and the present.  Plaintiffs seek, inter
alia, certain monetary relief, damages, and declaratory, injunctive and other equitable relief. On July 9, 2015,
Defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated complaint. The parties have reached an agreement on a settlement of
this class action. The terms of settlement include releases by members of the class of claims against the Company and
the individual defendants and payment of approximately $6. Under the terms of the settlement, approximately $5 of
the settlement will be paid by the Company’s insurer and approximately $1 will be paid by the Company (which
represents the remaining deductible under the Company’s applicable insurance policy). Certain documentation relating
to the settlement has not yet been finalized, and the settlement is subject to court approval. If the settlement is not
approved by the court, or is otherwise terminated before it is finalized, the Company will be unable to predict the
outcome of this matter. Furthermore, in that event, it is reasonably possible that the Company may incur a loss in
connection with this matter, which the Company is unable to reasonably estimate.
Under some circumstances, any losses incurred in connection with adverse outcomes in the litigation matters
described above could be material.
Brazilian Tax Matters
In 2002, our Brazilian subsidiary received an excise tax (IPI) assessment from the Brazilian tax authorities for alleged
tax deficiencies during the years 1997-1998. In December 2012, additional assessments were received for the year
2008 with respect to excise tax (IPI) and taxes charged on gross receipts (PIS and COFINS). In the second quarter of
2014, the PIS and COFINS assessments were officially closed in favor of Avon Brazil. The 2002 and the 2012 IPI
assessments assert that the establishment in 1995 of separate manufacturing and distribution companies in Brazil was
done without a valid business purpose and that Avon Brazil did not observe minimum pricing rules to define the
taxable basis of excise tax. The structure adopted in 1995 is comparable to that used by many other companies in
Brazil. We believe that our Brazilian corporate structure is appropriate, both operationally and legally, and that the
2002 and 2012 IPI assessments are unfounded.
These matters are being vigorously contested. In January 2013, we filed a protest seeking a first administrative level
review with respect to the 2012 IPI assessment. In July 2013, the 2012 IPI assessment was upheld at the first
administrative level and we have appealed this decision to the second administrative level. The 2012 IPI assessment
totals approximately $258, including penalties and accrued interest. In October 2010, the 2002 IPI assessment was
upheld at the first administrative level at an amount reduced to approximately $23 from approximately $55, including
penalties and accrued interest. We appealed this decision to the second administrative level, which ruled in favor of
Avon in March 2015 and canceled the 2002 IPI assessment. The 2002 IPI assessment remains subject to appeal by the
government.
In the event that the 2002 or 2012 IPI assessments are upheld at the last administrative level, it may be necessary for
us to provide security to pursue further appeals, which, depending on the circumstances, may result in a charge to
earnings. It is not possible to reasonably estimate the likelihood or potential amount of assessments that may be issued
for subsequent periods (tax years up through 2009 are closed by statute). However, other similar IPI assessments
involving different periods (1998-2001) have been canceled and officially closed in our favor by the second
administrative level. We believe that the likelihood that the 2002 IPI assessment will be upheld on any further appeal
is remote and the likelihood that the 2012 IPI assessment will be upheld is reasonably possible. As stated above, we
believe that the 2002 and 2012 IPI assessments are unfounded.
Other Matters
Various other lawsuits and claims, arising in the ordinary course of business or related to businesses previously sold,
are pending or threatened against Avon. In management's opinion, based on its review of the information available at
this time, the total cost of resolving such other contingencies at December 31, 2015, is not expected to have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
NOTE 16. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
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Q4 2015 Egypt Impairment Assessment
During the 2015 year-end close process, our analysis of the Egypt business indicated an impairment as the carrying
value of the business exceeded the estimated fair value. This was primarily the result of reducing our long-term
projections of the business. During 2015, Egypt performed generally in line with our revenue and earnings
projections, which assumed growth as compared to 2014. However, as a result of currency restrictions for the payment
of goods in Egypt, we lowered our long-term revenue and earnings projections for the business. Accordingly, a
non-cash before tax impairment charge of $6.9 ($6.9 after tax) was recorded to reduce the carrying amount of
goodwill. There is no amount remaining associated with goodwill for our Egypt reporting unit as a result of this
impairment charge.
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Q3 2015 Liz Earle Divestiture
As a result of the sale of Liz Earle in July 2015, we disposed of goodwill and other intangible assets, net of $124.3 and
$28.2, respectively. Other intangible assets, net included indefinite-lived trademarks of $23.6, licensing agreements of
$3.0 and customer relationships of $1.6. See Note 3, Discontinued Operations and Divestitures for additional
information.
Q3 2013 China Impairment Assessment
During the first half of 2013, China performed generally in line with our revenue and earnings projections. As
assumed in our projections, China's revenue in the first half of 2013 continued to deteriorate versus the prior-year
period; however, beginning in the third quarter of 2013, this revenue decline was significantly in excess of our
assumptions. Revenue in the third quarter of 2013 declined 67% versus the third quarter of 2012, compared to a
revenue decline of 28% in the first half of 2013 versus the first half of 2012. As a result, in the third quarter of 2013, it
became apparent that we would not achieve our 2013 and long-term forecasted revenue and earnings, and we
completed an interim impairment assessment of the fair value of goodwill related to our operations in China.
China's revenue performance in the third quarter of 2013 was approximately 67% less (when excluding the impact of
foreign currency) than the revenue in our projections. The revenue decline in China during the third quarter of 2013
resulted in the recognition of an operating loss while we had expected operating profit in our projections. In the third
quarter of 2013, we significantly lowered our long-term revenue and earnings projections for China that was included
in our DCF model utilized in our interim impairment assessment. Based upon this interim analysis, we determined that
the goodwill related to our operations in China was impaired. Specifically, the results of our interim impairment
analysis indicated the estimated fair value of our China reporting unit was less than its respective carrying amount. As
a result of our impairment testing, we recorded a non-cash before tax impairment charge of $38.4 ($38.4 after tax) to
reduce the carrying amount of goodwill. There is no goodwill remaining for our China reporting unit as a result of this
impairment. The decline in the fair value of the China reporting unit was primarily driven by the significant reduction
in the forecasted long-term growth rates and cash flows used to estimate fair value. Fiscal year 2013 revenue for China
was expected to be approximately 38% less than the revenue in our projections and 47% less than fiscal year 2012
results.
We also performed an interim impairment analysis for our China finite-lived intangible assets, which indicated the
carrying value of these intangible assets exceeded the estimated future undiscounted cash flows of the business. This
resulted in a non-cash before tax impairment charge of $3.7 ($2.8 after tax) to reduce the carrying amount of these
assets. There are no intangible assets remaining for China as a result of this impairment charge.
China had historically generated positive cash flows, but was not expected to generate positive cash flows in 2013 or
for a number of years thereafter as there was a need for further investment than was previously anticipated. As a
result, the expected cash flows of the business as of the date of our impairment analysis were not at a level sufficient
to support the carrying value of the business. As compared to prior years' projections for China, the future
expectations declined significantly in the 2013 impairment analysis. This reduction in future expectations led to an
impairment of $42.1 being recorded in the third quarter of 2013.
Key Assumptions - Egypt and China
Key assumptions used in measuring the fair value of Egypt and China during these impairment assessments included
projections of revenue and the resulting cash flows, as well as the discount rate (based on the estimated
weighted-average cost of capital). To estimate the fair value of Egypt and China, we forecasted revenue and the
resulting cash flows over five years and ten years, respectively, using a DCF model which included a terminal value at
the end of the projection period. We believed that a five-year period and a ten-year period was a reasonable amount of
time in order to return cash flows of Egypt and China, respectively, to normalized, sustainable levels.
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Goodwill

Latin
America

Europe,
Middle East &
Africa

Asia
Pacific Total

Gross balance at December 31, 2014 $90.7 $156.0 $85.0 $331.7
Accumulated impairments — — (82.4 ) (82.4 )
Net balance at December 31, 2014 $90.7 $156.0 $2.6 $249.3

Changes during the period ended December 31,
2015:
Divestitures $— $(124.3 ) $— $(124.3 )
Impairment — (6.9 ) — (6.9 )
Foreign exchange (21.8 ) (4.0 ) — (25.8 )

Gross balance at December 31, 2015 $68.9 $27.7 $85.0 $305.9
Accumulated impairments — (6.9 ) (82.4 ) (89.3 )
Net balance at December 31, 2015 $68.9 $20.8 $2.6 $92.3
Other intangible assets

2015 2014
Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets
Customer relationships $21.5 $(21.5 ) $33.0 $(31.1 )
Licensing agreements 26.2 (26.2 ) 43.4 (39.9 )
Noncompete agreements 6.3 (6.3 ) 7.2 (7.2 )
Indefinite-Lived Trademarks — — 23.6 —
Total $54.0 $(54.0 ) $107.2 $(78.2 )

Aggregate amortization expense was $4.4 for the year ended December 31, 2013. Aggregate amortization expense
was not material for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, and is not expected to be material for future
periods.
NOTE 17. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, prepaid expenses and other included the following:
Prepaid expenses and other 2015 2014
Prepaid taxes and tax refunds receivable $96.3 $155.9
Receivables other than trade 69.6 70.6
Prepaid brochure costs, paper and other literature 64.5 72.1
Short-term investments 2.4 21.0
Deferred tax assets (Note 2 and Note 7) — 205.2
Other 63.3 65.9
Prepaid expenses and other $296.1 $590.7
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At December 31, 2015 and 2014, other assets included the following:
Other assets 2015 2014
Deferred tax assets (Note 2 and Note 7) $172.8 $678.8
Long-term receivables 162.1 149.5
Capitalized software (Note 1) 82.4 91.6
Investments 36.3 36.4
Tooling (plates and molds associated with our beauty products) 15.3 20.7
Other intangible assets, net (Note 16) — 29.1
Other 30.2 28.2
Other assets $499.1 $1,034.3
NOTE 18. Results of Operations by Quarter (Unaudited)
2015 First Second Third Fourth Year
Total revenue $1,552.1 $1,564.9 $1,436.2 $1,607.3 $6,160.5
Gross profit 940.4 953.9 877.2 943.6 3,715.1
Operating (loss) profit(1) (32.9 ) 89.7 45.3 62.9 165.0
(Loss) income from continuing operations, before
taxes(2) (76.7 ) 61.2 31.0 7.2 22.7

(Loss) income from continuing operations, net of tax
(3) (142.6 ) 28.9 (668.0 ) (14.8 ) (796.5 )

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of
tax (3.8 ) .8 (29.0 ) (317.1 ) (349.1 )

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (.9 ) (.9 ) — (1.5 ) (3.3 )
Net (loss) income attributable to Avon $(147.3 ) $28.8 $(697.0 ) $(333.4 ) $(1,148.9)

(Loss) earnings per common share from continuing
operations
Basic $(.33 ) $.06 $(1.51 ) $(.04 ) $(1.81 ) (4)
Diluted (.33 ) .06 (1.51 ) (.04 ) (1.81 ) (4)

2014 First Second Third Fourth Year
Total revenue $1,887.9 $1,884.5 $1,861.5 $2,014.1 $7,648.0
Gross profit 1,048.5 1,189.8 1,165.0 1,237.8 4,641.1
Operating (loss) profit(1) (47.4 ) 110.7 196.2 174.8 434.3
(Loss) income from continuing operations, before
taxes(2) (136.8 ) 83.3 153.4 100.9 200.8

(Loss) income from continuing operations, net of tax
(3) (165.5 ) 29.4 97.0 (305.4 ) (344.5 )

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (1.7 ) (9.5 ) (5.0 ) (24.2 ) (40.4 )
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (1.1 ) (.9 ) (.6 ) (1.1 ) (3.7 )
Net (loss) income attributable to Avon $(168.3 ) $19.0 $91.4 $(330.7 ) $(388.6 )

(Loss) earnings per common share from continuing
operations
Basic $(.38 ) $.07 $.22 $(.70 ) $(.79 ) (4)
Diluted (.38 ) .07 .22 (.70 ) (.79 ) (4)
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(1) Operating (loss) profit was impacted by the following:
2015 First Second Third Fourth Year
Costs to implement restructuring initiatives:
Cost of sales $— $— $— $— $—
Selling, general and administrative expenses 27.2 2.9 (1.9 ) 20.9 49.1
Total costs to implement restructuring
initiatives $27.2 $2.9 $(1.9 ) $20.9 $49.1

Venezuelan special items $106.4 $6.2 $5.7 $1.9 $120.2
Pension settlement charge $— $— $6.2 $1.1 $7.3
Other items $— $— $— $3.1 $3.1
Asset impairment and other charges $— $— $— $6.9 $6.9

2014 First Second Third Fourth Year
Costs to implement restructuring initiatives:
Cost of sales $— $— $— $— $—
Selling, general and administrative expenses 17.2 41.5 .8 27.1 86.6
Total costs to implement restructuring
initiatives $17.2 $41.5 $.8 $27.1 $86.6

Venezuelan special items $115.7 $18.0 $2.0 $1.4 $137.1
FCPA accrual $46.0 $— $— $— $46.0
Pension settlement charge $— $6.1 $1.4 $2.0 $9.5

(2)

In addition to the items impacting operating (loss) profit above, (loss) income from continuing operations, before
taxes during 2015 was impacted by an after-tax benefit of $3.4 (benefit of $4.2 in other expense, net, and a loss of
$.8 in income taxes) recorded in the first quarter, primarily reflecting the write-down of monetary assets and
liabilities due to the change to the SIMADI rate. In addition, (loss) income from continuing operations, before
taxes during 2015 was impacted by the gain on sale of Liz Earle of $44.9 before tax ($51.6 after tax), primarily
recorded in the third quarter. In addition, (loss) income from continuing operations, before taxes during 2015 was
impacted by a loss on extinguishment of debt of $5.5 before tax in the third quarter caused by the make-whole
premium and the write-off of debt issuance costs and discounts, associated with the prepayment of the 2.375%
Notes (as defined in Note 5, Debt and Other Financing) and $2.5 before tax in the second quarter of 2015
associated with the write-off of issuance costs related to our previous $1 billion revolving credit facility.

In addition, (loss) income from continuing operations, before taxes during 2014 was impacted by an after-tax loss of
$41.8 ($53.7 in other expense, net, and a benefit of $11.9 in income taxes) recorded in the first quarter, primarily
reflecting the write-down of monetary assets and liabilities due to the change to the SICAD II rate.
(3)(Loss) income from continuing operations, net of tax during 2015 was negatively impacted by an aggregate

non-cash income tax charge of $685.1. This was primarily due to additional valuation allowances for U.S. deferred
tax assets of $641.6 and $31.3 which were recorded in the third and first quarters of 2015, respectively, partially
offset by a partial release of a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets of $3.2 which was recorded in the second
quarter of 2015. The additional valuation allowances in the third and first quarters of 2015 was due to the
continued strengthening of the U.S. dollar against currencies of some of our key markets and the impact on the
benefits from our tax planning strategies associated with the realization of our deferred tax assets. The partial
release of the valuation allowance in the second quarter of 2015 was due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar
against currencies of some of our key markets. In addition, the non-cash income tax charge was due to additional
valuation allowances for deferred tax assets outside of the U.S. of $15.4, primarily in Russia, which was recorded
in the third quarter of 2015, which was largely due to lower earnings, which were significantly impacted by foreign
exchange losses on working capital balances. In addition, (loss) income from continuing operations, before taxes
during 2015 was impacted by an income tax benefit of $18.7, which was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2015,
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recognized as a result of the implementation of foreign tax planning strategies.
In addition, (loss) income from continuing operations, net of tax during 2014 was negatively impacted by a non-cash
income tax charge of $404.9. This was primarily due to a valuation allowance of $383.5 to reduce our deferred tax
assets to an amount that is "more likely than not" to be realized, which was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2014. In
addition, (loss) income from continuing operations, net of tax during 2014 was favorably impacted by the $18.5 net
tax benefit recorded in the fourth quarter of 2014 related to the finalization of the FCPA settlements.

(4)The sum of per share amounts for the quarters does not necessarily equal that for the year because thecomputations were made independently.
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See Note 15, Restructuring Initiatives, "Results Of Operations - Consolidated" within MD&A on pages 37 through 45,
"Segment Review - Latin America" within MD&A on pages 46 through 50, Note 1, Description of the Business and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Note 11, Employee Benefit Plans, Note 16, Goodwill and Intangible
Assets, Note 15, Contingencies, Note 3, Discontinued Operations and Divestitures and Note 7, Income Taxes, for
more information on these items.
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SCHEDULE II
AVON PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 

Additions

(In millions)
Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged
to Costs
and
Expenses

Charged
to
Revenue

Deductions
Balance
at End of
Period

2015
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $93.7 $144.1 $— $ (160.2 ) (1) $77.6

Allowance for sales returns 13.2 — 190.8 (194.9 ) (2) 9.1
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 98.9 45.4 — (73.0 ) (3) 71.3
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 1,362.6 609.5 (4) — — 1,972.1
2014
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $118.4 $171.1 $— $ (195.8 ) (1) $93.7

Allowance for sales returns 14.5 — 240.9 (242.2 ) (2) 13.2
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 113.9 78.4 — (93.4 ) (3) 98.9
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 942.1 420.5 (4) — — 1,362.6
2013
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $121.3 $209.2 $— $ (212.1 ) (1) $118.4

Allowance for sales returns 23.2 — 274.2 (282.9 ) (2) 14.5
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 134.4 82.0 — (102.5 ) (3) 113.9
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 786.1 156.0 (4) — — 942.1

(1)Accounts written off, net of recoveries and foreign currency translation adjustment.
(2)Returned product destroyed and foreign currency translation adjustment.
(3)Obsolete inventory destroyed and foreign currency translation adjustment.

(4)Increase in valuation allowance primarily for deferred tax assets that are not more likely than not to be realized inthe future.
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